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  1          (Court convened at 10:06 a.m.)

  2 THE DEPUTY CLERK:  United States of America 

  3 versus Keith Brent Duncan, in criminal case 4:11 cr112.

  4 Ms. Sterling, is the government ready to 

  5 proceed?

  6 MS. STERLING:  The government is ready, Your 

  7 Honor.

  8 THE COURT:  Ms. Harris, Ms. Tallent, is the 

  9 defendant ready to proceed?

 10 MS. TALLENT:  He is.  We are ready, Your Honor.  

 11 Good morning.

 12 THE COURT:  All right.  Good morning.

 13 Ladies and gentlemen, we are here this morning 

 14 for the purposes of conducting a hearing pursuan t to 

 15 Sell.  I have had an opportunity to read the submission s 

 16 of the United States and of the defendant, as we ll as the 

 17 stipulation that the parties have filed in the c ase.

 18 Ms. Sterling, how many witnesses do you intend 

 19 to call in this hearing?

 20 MS. STERLING:  We intend to call two this 

 21 morning, Your Honor.

 22 THE COURT:  Two witnesses.  

 23 And is the defense potentially calling any 

 24 witnesses in this case, Ms. Harris, just to get an idea 

 25 of where we are going?
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  1 MS. HARRIS:  Your Honor, at this time we do not 

  2 plan to call any witnesses.  Mr. Duncan has expr essed his 

  3 wish to testify, but we have advised him he does n't have 

  4 that right in this capacity and we don't intend to call 

  5 him as a witness, Your Honor.

  6 THE COURT:  Okay.  That's fine.

  7 Ladies and gentlemen, the Court is prepared to 

  8 go forward.  

  9 Ms. Sterling, are there any preliminaries you 

 10 want to address, or do you want to call your fir st 

 11 witness?  

 12 MS. STERLING:  Your Honor, if I might address 

 13 the Court briefly.

 14 As the Court has indicated, there was a 

 15 stipulation filed yesterday.  It was the desire of the 

 16 government and defense counsel to try to pare th is down 

 17 to get to the issue at hand, and that is the rea son for 

 18 the stipulation.

 19 The stipulation contains stipulations of fact 

 20 and stipulations as to documents that would be u sed as 

 21 exhibits in this case.  I would advise the Court  first as 

 22 to the stipulation of facts.  These are facts th at were 

 23 gleaned from the various reports that the physic ians, 

 24 these psychiatrists, prepared.  So rather than m aking 

 25 reference back and forth to materials contained in the 
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  1 report, we have just set those forth as a stipul ation.

  2 The stipulation does state the charge, which, as  

  3 the Court knows, the defendant was indicted for 

  4 possession of a firearm in violation of a protec tive 

  5 order.  It states, very briefly, that the eviden ce of the 

  6 government would be that this occurred on Septem ber 25th, 

  7 2011 at Langley Air Force Base.  The defendant a pproached 

  8 the gate about a matter of national security is what he 

  9 was claiming.  Due to his erratic behavior, offi cers 

 10 requested permission to search his vehicle.  Tha t search 

 11 produced a shotgun, a box of ammunition, along w ith 

 12 several other articles.

 13 Also contained in the stipulation is the fact 

 14 that there was a protective order in the case of  Dushan 

 15 versus Keith Duncan at the Superior Court for the County 

 16 of Cobb, State of Georgia, issued on February 22 nd, 2011 

 17 to remain effective for a period of one year to February 

 18 22nd, 2012, and a finding in that order specific ally that 

 19 Ms. Dushan was a protected authority pursuant to  18 

 20 U.S.C. 922(g). So those are the basic facts unde rlying 

 21 the reason Mr. Duncan is here today.

 22 There's also, beyond that in the stipulation, 

 23 really just a setting forth of the procedural hi story in 

 24 the case, which I'm sure the Court is aware of.

 25 THE COURT:  Right.
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  1 MS. STERLING:  But, again, we are just trying to  

  2 not have to go over the various matters in this case that 

  3 are not really related to the testimony today ab out the 

  4 involuntary medications or the government's moti on to 

  5 involuntary medicate.

  6 Your Honor, as to the exhibits, the government 

  7 would like at this time to offer these exhibits and move 

  8 them into evidence.  As listed in that stipulati on to 

  9 exhibits, the first four are the reports that th e Court 

 10 has received, both from Dr. Brauman at MCC and--  two 

 11 reports from Dr. Brauman and two reports from th e Butner 

 12 Medical Center involving the two psychiatrists w ho are 

 13 testifying today.

 14 In addition to that, under Stipulation No. 5, 

 15 there's an involuntary medication report.  I 'm n ot sure 

 16 if that was in the Court's file.  This was a hea ring that 

 17 was conducted subsequent to our last appearance before 

 18 the Court.  It is essentially what's commonly kn own as a 

 19 Harper hearing to determine the defendant's dangerousness  

 20 in an institutional setting.  Defense counsel ha d asked 

 21 that be admitted in evidence, so the government has 

 22 included that for that reason.

 23 THE COURT:  All right.

 24 MS. STERLING:  And, finally, there is an exhibit  

 25 which is a copy of a letter from Mr. Duncan sent  to the 
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  1 Court.  I assume that is also in the Court's fil e.  

  2 That's why it's included, but just for the sake of--

  3 THE COURT:  Yes, let's do that because right now  

  4 the Court has read so much the Court doesn't exa ctly 

  5 recall this Exhibit 6.

  6 Do you have it there?

  7 MS. STERLING:  I do, Your Honor, and it is 

  8 addressed to the Court.  

  9 MS. TALLENT:  May we be heard, Your Honor?

 10 THE COURT:  All right.  I was going to ask you 

 11 whether you had any objection to any of these ex hibits?

 12 MS. TALLENT:  We do stipulate, Your Honor, as to  

 13 their authenticity and agree that they are admit ted.  We 

 14 don't need a custodian for certification.  For i tems 1 

 15 through 5 we have no objection.  

 16 We do have an objection on relevance grounds to 

 17 the letter from Mr. Duncan to the Court.  We und erstand 

 18 that it has been sent to the Court previously so  it may 

 19 be in the Court's possession already, but as for  it to be 

 20 considered as an exhibit or evidence in the cont ext of 

 21 the Sell hearing, our position is that it does not go to 

 22 the factors under Sell.  That's my stance on that 

 23 particular exhibit.  The other exhibits, no prob lem.  We 

 24 have no problem with them being admitted and con sidered 

 25 by the Court.  
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  1 But I did want to make one more note, Your Honor  

  2 just so we are very clear, which is the protecti ve order 

  3 that Ms. Sterling mentioned in paragraph 3 of th e 

  4 stipulation of facts.  This was carefully worded  between 

  5 us that this protective order was issued and was  to 

  6 remain in effect until February 22nd, 2012, but we are 

  7 not conceding that it was in effect on February 22nd, 

  8 2012.  That would be an issue that could be liti gated 

  9 still at trial.  So we are not conceding that po int.  We 

 10 agree that it was issued and that it was to rema in in 

 11 effect if it was not canceled in the future.

 12 THE COURT:  All right.  That's a very fine 

 13 distinction.

 14 MS. HARRIS:  I'm sorry, sir?

 15 THE COURT:  It's a very fine distinction.

 16 MS. HARRIS:  Yes, sir.

 17 THE DEFENDANT:  Sir, may I add that it was 

 18 canceled July 15th, 2011?  

 19 THE COURT:  Mr. Duncan, in here don't talk 

 20 today.  Counsel will represent you.

 21 THE DEFENDANT:  If she can do that for me.

 22 THE COURT:  All right.  Well, let her handle it.   

 23 Don't talk out loud like that in here, okay?

 24 All right.  The Court has it.

 25 MS. HARRIS:  That was all I had to say, Your 
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  1 Honor.

  2 THE COURT:  All right.  The Court has it.

  3 Ms. Sterling, with respect to the letter, the 

  4 Court understands what the Sell factors are.  The Court 

  5 doesn't even understand what is in that letter, but the 

  6 Court has serious doubt that what's in that lett er, 

  7 unless the Court can be shown otherwise, has any  bearing 

  8 on the findings the Court has to make under Sell.

  9 MS. STERLING:  Your Honor, it is the position --  

 10 the reason it was offered into evidence is becau se 

 11 there's a lot of reference made about the volumi nous 

 12 writings of Mr. Duncan.  It is il lustrative of t hat.  The 

 13 government did not want to offer into evidence a ll these 

 14 various writings that had been received by the g overnment 

 15 and all sorts of other parties.

 16 If there is an objection to that, we can 

 17 certainly take it out of the stipulation, but th at was 

 18 the reason for it.  It was the government's unde rstanding 

 19 that that was agreeable, but we are not offering  it 

 20 specifically for the purposes of the Court's 

 21 determination under Sell.

 22 THE COURT:  Upon the stipulation of counsel, 

 23 Government's Exhibit 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 are admitt ed.  

 24 Exhibit 6 is not admitted.

 25 (Government's Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 were 
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  1 marked and admitted.)

  2 MS. TALLENT:  Your Honor, we did want to address  

  3 just a couple of other preliminary matters befor e the 

  4 hearing.

  5 THE COURT:  You may.

  6 MS. TALLENT:  Thank you, Your Honor.

  7 We want to make clear, Your Honor, that we don't  

  8 object and we will agree that Drs. Volin and Pat ole are 

  9 experts and are qualified as experts in their fi elds, and 

 10 we have no objection to them being qualified as experts 

 11 before the Court today.

 12 We would ask that the witnesses be sequestered.  

 13 And additionally, Your Honor, because this is a complex 

 14 matter-- I mean, there will be a complex argumen t given 

 15 at the end sort of trying to pull the factors to gether 

 16 with the testimony, then we would offer to Your Honor 

 17 and, if you would like, we will submit post-hear ing 

 18 briefings.

 19 THE COURT:  Okay.  The Court certainly can have 

 20 the parties submit post-hearing briefings within  30 days 

 21 of the date and the time of this hearing to save  you the 

 22 trouble of arguing.  If you believe that that wo uld in 

 23 any way assist you, the Court believes it has an  

 24 understanding here-- maybe I better wait until t he end of 

 25 the hearing to determine whether I'm going to re quest 
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  1 that briefing or not.  We are going to do that.  We are 

  2 simply going to wait.

  3 Now, the Court would direct that the witnesses 

  4 be sequestered, be separated.

  5 Where are they located anyway?  Wherever they 

  6 are, they need to be sequestered.

  7 MS. STERLING:  They are testifying via video 

  8 conference phone, but, Your Honor, the governmen t's first 

  9 witness would be Dr. Patole.

 10 THE COURT:  Okay.  Dr. Patole is your first 

 11 witness, then your next witnesses certainly need s to be 

 12 sequestered during the testimony of Dr. Patole, and if 

 13 you could direct them to do that.

 14 I don't know which one is Dr. Patole, so you 

 15 will have to--

 16 MS. STERLING:  Dr. Patole is in the purple 

 17 shirt.

 18 THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, then we are going to 

 19 have Dr. Volin to step out.

 20 MS. STERLING:  And Dr. Marra as well, Your 

 21 Honor.

 22 THE COURT:  Okay.  Will all witnesses step out 

 23 except Dr. Patole.

 24 (The witnesses were excused from the courtroom.)

 25 THE COURT:  All right.  Patrice, you may swear 
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 her in.

  2 (The witness was sworn by the deputy clerk.) 

  3 THE COURT:  You may be seated.

  4 S ONAL PATOLE,  M. D. , called as a witness, having 

  5 been first duly sworn, was examined and testifie d as 

  6 follows:

  7 DIRECT EXAMINATION

  8 BY MS. STERLING:

  9 Q. If you would, ma'am, please state your full na me for 

 10 the Court.  

 11 A. Yes.  My name is Sonal Patole.  It 's spelled 

 12 S-o-n-a-l, last name P-a-t-o-l-e.

 13 Q. Dr. Patole, how are you employed?

 14 A. I am currently a forensic psychiatrist Fellow at UNC 

 15 Chapel Hill.  As far as my training, I have rota ted 

 16 through the Butner Medical Center here in Butner .

 17 Q. And you are training for what?

 18 A. I am a forensic psychiatrist Fellow.  I'm curr ently 

 19 under training for a forensic psychiatrist.

 20 Q. Okay.  And what is your educational background  in 

 21 the field of forensic psychiatry?

 22 A. So after graduating college, I attended medica l 

 23 school.  I graduated from medical school in 2008 .  After 

 24 that I finished a general psychiatry residency i n 2012, 

 25 and then I joined the forensic psychiatry traini ng 
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 program here at UNC Chapel Hill as well.

  2 Part of my training involves me rotating through  

  3 the state hospitals.  That's the Central Regiona l 

  4 Hospital, the North Carolina State Hospital, the  Federal 

  5 Medical Center, and also the Dorothea Dix Hospit al in 

  6 Raleigh.

  7 Q. Are you still involved in training to be a for ensic 

  8 psychiatrist?

  9 A. Yes, ma'am.

 10 Q. Okay.  And are you at Butner at this time in y our 

 11 training?

 12 A. I finished my rotation at Butner in December o f last 

 13 year.

 14 MS. STERLING:  Okay.  I do have for the Court, 

 15 Your Honor, and I would move to admit Government 's 

 16 Exhibit 7, the CV for Dr. Patole.  I realize the re's been 

 17 a stipulation, but I would ask she be qualified as an 

 18 expert in forensic psychiatry.  I submit that fo r the 

 19 Court's information.

 20 THE COURT:  Any objection?

 21 MS. TALLENT:  No objection, Your Honor.

 22 THE COURT:  Okay.  Exhibit 7 will be admitted.

 23 (Government's Exhibit 7 was marked and 

 24 admitted.)

 25 BY MS. STERLING:
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 Q. In your course of rotation at Butner, did you have 

  2 occasion to evaluate Keith Duncan?

  3 A. Yes, I did.

  4 Q. Are you having trouble hearing me?

  5 A. A little bit, but I think we can manage.

  6 Q. All right.  I will try to speak a little more 

  7 slowly.  

  8 Are you able to see the courtroom to see that 

  9 Mr. Duncan is here today?

 10 A. I am not able to see Mr. Duncan.  He's not on the 

 11 screen for me.

 12 THE COURT:  What can she see?

 13 THE WITNESS:  I can see yourself and also 

 14 Ms. Sterling, and the court reporter.

 15 Yes, I see Mr. Duncan.  He's the gentleman 

 16 waving at me.

 17 MS. STERLING:  All right.  If the record could 

 18 reflect that the witness has identified the defe ndant, 

 19 Your Honor.

 20 THE COURT:  The record will so reflect.

 21 MS. STERLING:  Thank you.

 22 BY MS. STERLING:

 23 Q. And what was the purpose of your evaluation?

 24 A. Mr. Duncan was admitted to FMC on the 19th of July 

 25 of last year.  On admission he received both a m edical 
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 evaluation and a psychiatric evaluation, just on  the 

  2 intake.  

  3 As far as the medical evaluation, he received 

  4 basic labs and also he received a full medical a nd 

  5 physical exam.  The intake was done by Dr. Volin .  And 

  6 subsequent to that when I joined the facility as  part of 

  7 my training, I interacted with Mr. Duncan at lea st on a 

  8 weekly basis while I was here, and it involved e xtensive 

  9 interviews ranging anywhere from between 15 and 45 

 10 minutes on a weekly basis.

 11 It also involved a gathering of collaterals on 

 12 both the AUSA and also from medical records, als o 

 13 information from his family.  We also had consul ted with 

 14 Dr. Dillon Grant, who is a psychologist at FMC.

 15 Q. Okay.  And do you know why Mr. Duncan was admi tted 

 16 to Butner in July of 2012?

 17 A. Yes.  Under Section 4241 he was admitted to Bu tner 

 18 for competency restoration and evaluation of com petency 

 19 to stand trial.

 20 Q. Okay.  And was that pursuant to a court order?

 21 A. Yes, ma'am.  It was a court order.

 22 Q. All right.  Now, you indicated that you met ma ny 

 23 times with Mr. Duncan.  Can you tell us approxim ately 

 24 how many times you met with him in the course of  your 

 25 evaluation?  
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 A. I met with him at least on a weekly basis.  So  at 

  2 least 12, 13 times that I was here I have had oc casion 

  3 to meet with him, if not more.

  4 Q. All right.  And how would you describe his dem eanor 

  5 and his conduct during those meetings?

  6 A. Mr. Duncan is a very nice fellow.  He's an 

  7 intelligent person.  He was cooperative with the  

  8 examination, but when we would attempt to try to  talk 

  9 about his legal issues and his current evaluatio n he 

 10 would become easily agitated and, therefore, at times I 

 11 had to terminate interviews due to that agitatio n.

 12 Q. And what do you mean about the agitation, what  

 13 specifically?

 14 A. When he would discuss his legal issues, he wou ld 

 15 repeatedly try to assert that the reason for him  being 

 16 here was part of a conspiracy.  For example, if we were 

 17 to talk about, you know, as far as the competenc y 

 18 evaluation, what the role of the lawyer was, he knew 

 19 what his defense attorney was supposed to do, bu t then 

 20 the conversation would derail into how his attor ney is 

 21 involved in the conspiracy and then it would fur ther 

 22 derail into encompassing other folks in the inst itution 

 23 and outside of the institution, and kind of just  sort of 

 24 postulating about why these folks are after him and are 

 25 involved in a conspiracy.  
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 He would have to be redirected to talk about the  

  2 issue at hand.  His volume would increase, the r ate of 

  3 his speech would increase, and he would become--  he 

  4 would physically become agitated.  So that's why  we 

  5 would have to terminate the interview.

  6 Q. Did you terminate the interview after trying t o 

  7 redirect him?

  8 A. I'm sorry.  Can you repeat the question, pleas e?  

  9 Q. Did you try to redirect his focus before 

 10 terminating?

 11 A. Yes.  I would try several times.  I think we w ould 

 12 try-- you know, I tried several approaches with him to 

 13 redirect him to the issue at hand, but I was oft en 

 14 unsuccessful.

 15 Q. Okay.  And I believe you indicated that becaus e you 

 16 were a Fellow, you were supervised by a staff in  your 

 17 evaluation; is that correct?

 18 A. Yes.  I was supervised by Dr. Volin.

 19 Q. That's Dr. Jill Volin?

 20 A. Yes, ma'am.

 21 Q. Okay.  And I believe you touched on this also,  but 

 22 in addition to your interviews with Mr. Duncan, what, if 

 23 any, other sources of information did you use in  

 24 performing your evaluation?

 25 A. The other sources we used were medical records  that 
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 we obtained from Peachford Hospital in Atlanta.  We also 

  2 contacted his family members for information.  W e also 

  3 reviewed material from his previous evaluation i n New 

  4 York, and we also reviewed any other Bureau of P risons 

  5 records that were available.  We also reviewed i ncident 

  6 and witness reports that were forwarded to us re garding 

  7 the alleged offense.

  8 Q. Okay.  You indicated you reviewed medical reco rds 

  9 from Peachtree (sic.).  What did those entail?

 10 A. I believe it's Peachford Hospital.  It was a 

 11 involuntary psychiatric admission that was done for 

 12 Mr. Duncan in the past, and we obtained those re cords.

 13 Q. Okay.  Based on your evaluation, including a r eview 

 14 of the documents you have indicated and your int erviews 

 15 with Mr. Duncan, did you form a medical opinion with a 

 16 reasonable degree of certainty as to whether he suffers 

 17 from a mental disease or defect?

 18 A. Yes.

 19 Q. Okay.  And what is your opinion? 

 20 A. He has schizoaffective disorder.

 21 Q. Okay.  And could you tell us briefly what you mean 

 22 by that?  What is schizoaffective disorder?

 23 A. Sure.  So schizoaffective disorder is the type  of 

 24 disorder that has symptoms both of a mood disord er, 

 25 which is bipolar disorder, and also symptoms of a 
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 psychotic disorder, which is schizophrenia.  

  2 So with schizophrenia a person usually 

  3 experiences delusions or hallucinations.  Delusi ons are 

  4 fake, false beliefs, and hallucinations meaning hearing 

  5 things that no one else can hear or seeing thing s that 

  6 no one else can see.  

  7 Bipolar disorder is more of a cyclical 

  8 disorder.  You see symptoms of mania, which is w hen 

  9 folks have deeper sleep, they talk really fast, they are 

 10 disorganized, and that's a manic episode.  They can also 

 11 experience a depressive episode.  

 12 But schizoaffective disorder is a combination of  

 13 both schizophrenia and bipolar disorder.  So 

 14 schizoaffective disorder you have the cyclical n ature of 

 15 the illness, whereas on occasion the patient exp eriences 

 16 manic episodes and also can experience depressiv e 

 17 episodes later on.  But in between episodes they  still 

 18 have the psychotic symptoms.  

 19 In bipolar disorder you have the episodes of 

 20 mania and depression, but in between those episo des the 

 21 patient is symptom free.  In schizoaffective dis order 

 22 that's not the case.  You have the episodes, but  in 

 23 between those episodes the patient doesn't have 

 24 psychotic symptoms present but the delusions pre sent.

 25 Q. So in schizoaffective disorder, as I understan d what 
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 you are saying, there was never a time when the person 

  2 diagnosed is asymptomatic; is that correct?

  3 A. That is correct.

  4 Q. Are there different types of schizoaffective 

  5 disorder?

  6 A. Yes.  Schizoaffective disorder bipolar type, a nd 

  7 there is schizoaffective disorder disorganized.

  8 Q. Did you diagnose Mr. Duncan, the defendant, as  

  9 having a particular type of schizoaffective?

 10 A. We diagnosed him with schizoaffective disorder  

 11 bipolar type.

 12 Q. Now, you have described for us what that diagn osis 

 13 entails as far as symptoms, but can you tell us 

 14 specifically why you diagnosed Mr. Duncan with 

 15 schizoaffective disorder bipolar type?

 16 A. Sure.  Mr. Duncan, he was initially hospitaliz ed in 

 17 Arizona, I believe, in '98 and during that time we were 

 18 not able to get the records, but his wife descri bed him 

 19 as having a manic attack.

 20 After that he was again hospitalized where he 

 21 was seen to have manic symptoms, and that's when  he was 

 22 admitted at Peachford Hospital.

 23 During that hospitalization the description, 

 24 basically, on his admission note stated that he had this 

 25 paranoid belief that his wife was trying to kill  him.  
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S. Patole, M.D. - Direct

  1 He was described as floridly manic, very paranoi d, 

  2 delusional and grandiose.  He was treated and 

  3 discharged.  

  4 Again, he was seen by Dr. Hege, and he also 

  5 noted episodes of Mr. Duncan being hypomanic or manic.  

  6 That's how he was described.

  7 More importantly, even within these periods 

  8 where it appears that he was having these psycho tic 

  9 episodes, there was instances where he was just having 

 10 psychotic symptoms.

 11 His son-- his family provided to us that even 

 12 when he was less manic, he would have thoughts s uch as 

 13 he had the ability to control things with his mi nd, 

 14 which they were delusions.

 15 Also, when he was arrested after-- when he was 

 16 under observation with Dr. Brauman, he was noted  to 

 17 require very little sleep, he was always irritab le, 

 18 grandiose, demanding, symptoms you see in mania.

 19 While he has been here, we have not seen him as 

 20 manic, but what we have seen is that he continue s to 

 21 have the delusional beliefs regarding Mr. Rose a nd 

 22 Ms. Bashama, which he's had these symptoms throu ghout 

 23 his illness.  He has not really shown us that he  has the 

 24 manic symptoms, but that's why we diagnosed him as 

 25 having the schizoaffective disorder because he h as the 
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  1 cyclical episodes of mania, but also being psych otic.

  2 Q. Just for those of us who are not psychiatrists , when 

  3 you say someone is manic or hypomanic, what do y ou mean 

  4 by those terms?

  5 A. So when I describe somebody as manic, it 's som ebody 

  6 who has a lot of energy but they really don't re quire 

  7 any sleep.  They have decreased need of sleep an d they 

  8 will not feel tired.  They will be able to do mu ltiple 

  9 things and they start multiple things, but don't  finish 

 10 them.  Their thoughts can be disorganized.  Thei r 

 11 speech, we call it, can be uninterpretable.  He' s 

 12 talking.  It's hard to interrupt and put any sug gestions 

 13 in there.  

 14 They also have impulsive behaviors such as, you 

 15 know, driving fast or using substances.  They ca n also 

 16 have psychotic symptoms such as paranoid delusio ns or 

 17 delusions of grandeur.  So that's what a manic e pisode 

 18 looks like.

 19 Q. What about hypomania?  You used that term.  Ho w is 

 20 that different from manic or mania?

 21 A. So mania means-- usually the symptoms I mentio ned 

 22 earlier, they last for either a week or less tha n a week 

 23 if the person needed hospitalization.  But in hy pomania, 

 24 they have the same degree of-- in hypomania, we have 

 25 somebody who does require less sleep, but their thoughts 
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  1 might not be quite as disorganized.  They might have a 

  2 lot more energy, but they will at times feel tir ed.  The 

  3 symptoms only last for about four days.  The per son does 

  4 not experience any psychotic symptoms.  Their li fe is 

  5 not impaired by these symptoms to the point that  they 

  6 need hospitalization.  So hypomania is kind of a  baby 

  7 mania, basically.  There are symptoms, but to a much 

  8 lesser degree and no psychotic.

  9 Q. Okay.  Thank you for that explanation.

 10 Dr. Patole, based on your evaluation, did you 

 11 prepare a report containing your diagnosis?

 12 A. Yes, we did.

 13 Q. In fact, weren't there two reports prepared in  

 14 Mr. Duncan's case?

 15 A. Yes, there were two reports.  Yes.

 16 Q. Just for the record, those reports were prepar ed in 

 17 September of 2012 and December 2012; is that cor rect?

 18 A. Correct.

 19 Q. And in your report --

 20 Your Honor, those are moved into admission as 

 21 Government's No. 3 and 4.

 22 THE COURT:  They have been admitted.

 23 MS. STERLING:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 24 BY MS. STERLING:

 25 Q. In your report, in addition to your diagnosis,  did 
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  1 you address the issue of Mr. Duncan's competence  to 

  2 stand trial?

  3 A. Yes, we did.

  4 Q. And did you form an opinion as to whether he w as 

  5 competent to stand trial?

  6 A. Yes.  I believe that Mr. Duncan is currently n ot 

  7 competent, based on the information I have, to s tand 

  8 trial.

  9 Q. Okay.  When you say currently, you mean as of the 

 10 dates of those two reports; is that correct?

 11 A. Yes.  As of the date of those reports he was n ot 

 12 competent to stand trial, correct?  

 13 Q. And you would state that with a reasonable deg ree of 

 14 medical certainty; is that correct?

 15 A. That is correct.

 16 Q. Okay.  Does your report indicate a medical opi nion 

 17 as to whether there's a substantial likelihood t hat 

 18 Mr. Duncan's competence could be restored with 

 19 appropriate treatment?

 20 A. Yes.

 21 Q. And, again, can you state an opinion with a 

 22 reasonable degree of medical certainty as to whe ther he 

 23 could be restored?

 24 A. I believe Mr. Duncan can be restored within a 

 25 reasonable medical certainty.
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  1 Q. Okay.  And what do you base that opinion on?

  2 A. So Mr. Duncan has in the past, he has a histor y of 

  3 being noncompliant.  But we do know that when he  was at 

  4 Peachford Hospital he was treated, and compared to when 

  5 he was admitted to the hospital where he was des cribed 

  6 as floridly manic and delusional and so forth, w ith 

  7 treatment his mental status improved.  And based  on that 

  8 window, we know that medications are effective i n 

  9 treating his symptoms.

 10 There's also a lot of data that support that 

 11 people with similar symptoms as Mr. Duncan have been 

 12 restored to competency with treatment.

 13 Q. Okay.  And you say you reviewed the records of  

 14 Peachford.  What was he treated with at Peachfor d?

 15 A. He was treated with Abilify at Peachford.

 16 Q. What is Abilify?

 17 A. Abilify is an antipsychotic medication.

 18 Q. And how is that medication administered?

 19 A. Can you repeat the question?

 20 Q. How is that administered?

 21 A. That was administered orally.

 22 Q. Okay.  So you based your opinion on his person al 

 23 record, studies of similarly situated people, an d your 

 24 just basic understanding of his situation; is th at 

 25 correct?
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  1 A. I'm sorry, I didn't hear that last part.

  2 Q. So in your opinion he could be restored based on his 

  3 history and studies or things that you know abou t 

  4 similarly situated persons; is that correct?

  5 A. That is correct.

  6 Q. All right.  And in the report or in both of th e 

  7 reports did you outline a treatment plan that wa s 

  8 designed to restore Mr. Duncan's competence?

  9 A. Yes, we did.

 10 Q. Okay.  And did that plan entail the use of 

 11 psychotropic medications?

 12 A. Yes, it does.

 13 Q. And what type of medications did you recommend  in 

 14 the report as far as would be needed to treat or  best 

 15 treat Mr. Duncan?

 16 A. So the proposed treatment plan would be-- well , 

 17 first of all, we would like for Mr. Duncan to 

 18 participate in the treatment, so that would be t o give 

 19 us the permission to treat him voluntarily becau se it 

 20 would allow us to sit down with Mr. Duncan and, you 

 21 know, show him the order and discuss the various  options 

 22 he has in terms of taking medications orally ver sus 

 23 injectable medications.  We would prefer to use oral 

 24 medications if he is amenable to be treated.  Yo u know, 

 25 we have several medications available to us.  
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  1 There are older medications which we call 

  2 typical medications or typical antipsychotics an d newer 

  3 ones which we call atypical antipsychotics.  Som e of the 

  4 older medications are alda corphenadene, and the  newer 

  5 medications are Risperdal, Abilify, Zyprexa, and  so 

  6 forth.  So we would sit down with him, talk to h im about 

  7 the risks and benefit of each medication and, yo u know, 

  8 we would work with him to make a choice.  Abilif y is 

  9 also one of the newer medications, and that's al so 

 10 available to us to administer.

 11 Were Mr. Duncan not wanting to participate in 

 12 his treatment plan, we do have available injecta ble 

 13 antipsychotics.  Haldol, Perphenazine are availa ble.  

 14 And also Zyprexa, which is a newer antipsychotic  

 15 medication, that's available as well.  And we wo uld have 

 16 administered them intramuscularly, and you would  take 

 17 appropriate institution measures to ensure safet y in 

 18 administering those medications?  

 19 Q. These medications would be injected only if 

 20 Mr. Duncan would not agree to take medications o rally; 

 21 is that correct?

 22 A. That is correct.

 23 Q. Has Mr. Duncan taken medications or been offer ed 

 24 medications orally, psychotropic medications, wh ile at 

 25 Butner?
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  1 A. Yes, he was.  When he initially came here, he was 

  2 offered an oral trial of Risperdal.  He took may be one 

  3 or two doses but then complained about side effe cts, and 

  4 later on said he had actually not taken the 

  5 medications.  A search of his cell was done, and  I 

  6 believe two Risperdal pills were found that he h ad not 

  7 taken.

  8 Q. And does your review of the medical history of  

  9 Mr. Duncan, including his prior treatment at Pea chford 

 10 and with other psychiatrists or healthcare 

 11 professionals, indicate his compliance with oral  

 12 medication?

 13 A. He has-- as I mentioned earlier, he has been m ostly 

 14 noncompliant in the past.  The only time that he  would 

 15 let me know he was truly treated was when he was  at 

 16 Peachford, and that was in a hospitalized settin g.

 17 Q. As far as medications that might be used for 

 18 involuntarily medicating the defendant, does the  

 19 treatment plan suggest a number of different med ications 

 20 and what, if any, is the order of preference?

 21 A. The treatment plan does talk about different 

 22 medications.  We would be able to offer him the newer 

 23 medications that I mentioned: Risperdal, Zyprexa  and 

 24 Abilify.  We would monitor him for any side effe cts, and 

 25 again, we would be able to discuss the risks and  
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  1 benefits and monitor, you know, what type of sid e 

  2 effects, if any, he's having.

  3 Q. Okay.  And what about the plan for Haldol and other 

  4 medications to be injected, if necessary?

  5 A. If Mr. Duncan declines medication, declines 

  6 treatment, we would start with Haldol, which is an 

  7 injectable medication and one of the older medic ations.  

  8 We would start with like 5 milligrams intramuscu larly 

  9 every day and then monitor how he's doing.

 10 Q. And does the plan also indicate the dosage amo unt, 

 11 the frequency, and the amount of time you believ e would 

 12 be necessary before it became effective in makin g him 

 13 competent or rendering him competent again?

 14 A. The plan does suggest some dosages of the 

 15 medications.  I believe you have outlined those on page 

 16 33 of the report.  They include Haldol, 5 millig rams 

 17 intramuscularly.

 18 Q. The plan, in fact, is a suggested dosage frequ ency 

 19 and amount necessary for restoration of the thre e 

 20 suggested injectable medications; is that correc t?

 21 A. That is correct.

 22 Q. All right.  Does the plan also set forth for t he 

 23 Court the potential side effects of the medicati ons 

 24 suggested?

 25 A. Yes.  The report does contain information abou t the 
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  1 side effects.

  2 Q. If you would, could you tell us briefly what t hose 

  3 potential side effects are and what, if any, mea sures 

  4 are set forth in the plan to deal with those?

  5 A. Okay.  The three main side effects that would be of 

  6 concern would be, first, primarily vision, espec ially 

  7 Mr. Duncan, you know, wanting to be able to part icipate 

  8 in his legal defense.  

  9 But, again, the patient will be monitored, and 

 10 you are going to start at a very low dose and th en 

 11 increase the medication as needed, but at the sa me time 

 12 you are going to balance it with the need for hi m to be 

 13 alert.  Usually the side effect of sedation less ens the 

 14 more the patient is on the medication.  

 15 Also, the other side effects are movement 

 16 disorders.  Sometimes initially they will experi ence 

 17 stiffness and that can be treated, what we call 

 18 Parkinsonism, and that could be treated with med ications 

 19 like Cogentin, and also the other movement disor der that 

 20 we worry about is a long-term movement disorder called 

 21 Tardive Dyskinesia, which is abnormal movements that 

 22 occur after a person has been on an antipsychoti c 

 23 medication for a long time.  So that side effect  is 

 24 something that has to be monitored for long term  and 

 25 it's unlikely that we will see it within the tim e frame 
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  1 that we will be monitoring Mr. Duncan.

  2 And lastly, the last side effect of concern is 

  3 what we call metabolic syndrome.  Metabolic synd rome is 

  4 a tendency for, especially the newer medications , to 

  5 cause folks to gain weight, develop diabetes, ha ve 

  6 increased cholesterol, and so forth.  That is so mething 

  7 that would need to be monitored on a periodic ba sis.  

  8 Mr. Duncan would have to agree for us to do lab work in 

  9 order to monitor for those things.

 10 We would measure his pituitary, his lipids on a 

 11 regular basis to make sure-- see how he was doin g.  His 

 12 weight would also be monitored on a regular basi s.

 13 Q. And are there also, or is there not, as indica ted in 

 14 the report, a possibility of very severe, in rar e cases, 

 15 very severe side effects?

 16 A. Yes.  The very severe side effect is what we c all a 

 17 neuroleptic malignant syndrome.  That is when a person 

 18 becomes confused, develops a fever, and so forth .  But 

 19 again, this is something that we monitor for, an d the 

 20 way we avoid it is we start low and increase the  

 21 medication slowly.

 22 Q. And does the report indicate or do you have an  

 23 opinion as to what the likelihood is of any seve re side 

 24 effects of the medications outlined?

 25 A. Let me refer to my report for a second.
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  1 Q. Yes, ma'am.

  2 A. So the estimated rate of neuroleptic malignant  

  3 syndrome is somewhere from .07 percent to 2 perc ent for 

  4 an individual treated with antipsychotic medicat ion.  So 

  5 that would be, at the most, two out of a hundred  

  6 patients would experience it, or at least seven out of a 

  7 thousand.

  8 Q. Are there any others there that you-- any othe r 

  9 severe effects?

 10 A. I'm sorry?

 11 Q. I'm sorry.  Does the report list any other sev ere 

 12 side effects and the potential of their occurren ce?

 13 A. There's also because recently there has been w hat we 

 14 call a black box warning with antipsychotic medi cation, 

 15 it has been known to cause cardiac arrhythmia or  causing 

 16 the heart to beat in an abnormal way, and this i s a very 

 17 rare side effect.  This cardiac arrhythmia can l ead to 

 18 sudden death.  The incidents for that in a gener al adult 

 19 population is somewhere between 7 events per 10, 000 

 20 persons to 10 to 12 events per 10,000 persons.

 21 Q. Okay.  In the medications, does the treatment plan 

 22 suggest that the Haldol, the Perphenazine and Ri sperdal, 

 23 is there a difference amongst them the likelihoo d of any 

 24 of these side effects?

 25 A. So the side effects that I mentioned earlier, the 
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  1 Parkinsonism side effects or the stiffness that I 

  2 mentioned earlier, it 's more likely to occur wit h the 

  3 older medications, and the older medications are  also 

  4 more likely to cause the Tardive Dyskinesia or t he 

  5 abnormal movements that I talked about earlier.  So 

  6 Haldol or Perphenazine are the older medications  and 

  7 there's a higher incidence of those causing the movement 

  8 side effects.  

  9 Risperdal is a newer medication.  It's more 

 10 likely to cause the metabolic syndrome that I me ntioned 

 11 earlier, causing folks to gain weight and so for th.  The 

 12 older medications and newer medications have a d ifferent 

 13 side effect profile.  

 14 As far as the neuroleptic malignant syndrome and  

 15 cardiac arrhythmia, the literature, I believe, s ays that 

 16 all the older and the newer medications have pre tty much 

 17 the same incidence of those occurring.

 18 Q. All right.  So by way of summary, the report 

 19 outlines all of the potential side effects and a  plan 

 20 for dealing with them through monitoring and tre atment; 

 21 is that correct?

 22 A. That is correct.

 23 Q. All right.  Now, you have indicated that you b elieve 

 24 the treatment plan outlined in the report is 

 25 substantially likely to return Mr. Duncan to com petence; 
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  1 is that correct?

  2 A. That is correct.

  3 Q. And if you could, just tell the Court briefly why do 

  4 you believe that to be the case, that this treat ment 

  5 plan will restore him to competence for the purp oses of 

  6 proceeding in this matter?

  7 A. We are basing that on some of the competency 

  8 maturation data that is already out there.  Ther e have 

  9 been two studies published in 1993 where there w ere 61 

 10 incompetent folks and they were involuntarily tr eated in 

 11 the state of New York and 89 percent of them wer e able 

 12 to be restored to competency.

 13 More recently in 2012, actually here at FMC 

 14 Butner, Drs. Herbel, Cochrane, Reardon and Lloyd  

 15 published a paper which basically looked at 132 folks 

 16 who were incompetent and were involuntarily trea ted 

 17 under Sell and were able to restore 70 plus percent of 

 18 them to competency.

 19 Q. Okay.  What was the name of that study, I'm so rry, 

 20 just to make that clear for the record?

 21 A. It's on page 22.  It's the study by Drs. Cochr ane, 

 22 Herbel, Reardon, and Lloyd.  It was done in 2012 .  It's 

 23 mentioned in the last paragraph.

 24 MS. STERLING:  Your Honor, I do have a copy of 

 25 that study.  Counsel has it also.  I would mark it and 
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  1 provide it for the Court as an exhibit, if that' s 

  2 agreeable.

  3 THE COURT:  Any objection?

  4 MS. TALLENT:  No objection, Your Honor.

  5 THE COURT:  All right.

  6 MS. STERLING:  I am marking a document entitled 

  7 "The Sell Effect: Involuntary medication treatme nt is a 

  8 clear and convincing success."  Offered by Cochr ane, 

  9 Herbel, Reardon and Lloyd, as described by the w itness.  

 10 It is marked as Government's Exhibit 8, and we w ould move 

 11 for its admission, Your Honor.

 12 THE COURT:  All right.  It will be admitted.

 13 (Government's Exhibit No. 8 was marked and 

 14 admitted.)

 15 BY MS. STERLING:

 16 Q. So in addition to research which would indicat e to 

 17 you that the treatment plan would restore Mr. Du ncan 

 18 to-- or would be substantially likely to restore  

 19 Mr. Duncan to competence, is there any other fac tor that 

 20 you want to share with the Court as far as what leads 

 21 you to that opinion?

 22 A. Again, when Mr. Duncan was treated at the Peac hford 

 23 Hospital, he responded positively to antipsychot ic 

 24 medication treatment, and that tells me that he will 

 25 more than likely be able to be treated with 
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  1 antipsychotic medication again and get benefit f rom it.

  2 Q. Okay.  And Dr. Patole, do you have an expert o pinion 

  3 or opinion with a reasonable degree of medical c ertainty 

  4 as to whether Mr. Duncan's competence could be r estored 

  5 without medication?

  6 A. In my opinion his competency will not be resto red 

  7 without medication.  Mr. Duncan has been without -- the 

  8 evidence for that is Mr. Duncan has been without  

  9 medication for the last year or more than a year  as he's 

 10 been in observation and his symptoms have not 

 11 retracted.  He continues to have the psychotic b eliefs 

 12 that are interfering with his ability to work wi th his 

 13 attorney in a meaningful way.

 14 Q. When was the last time you evaluated or saw 

 15 Mr. Duncan in a professional capacity?

 16 A. I met with Mr. Duncan, I think it was, mid-Dec ember 

 17 of 2012.

 18 Q. All right.  And is there anything in the two 

 19 reports, the September report and the December r eport 

 20 that's been filed with the Court, or any of your  

 21 observations, or any of those facts or any of yo ur 

 22 opinions different today than what was expressed  in 

 23 those reports when you wrote them?

 24 A. No.

 25 MS. STERLING:  Thank you very much, Dr. Patole.
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  1 THE COURT:  Cross-examination?  

  2 MS. TALLENT:  Yes, Your Honor.

  3 Before we start, Your Honor, we just wanted to 

  4 clarify that the exhibits that have already been  

  5 admitted, those will be under seal; is that corr ect?

  6 THE COURT:  Yes.

  7 MS. TALLENT:  Okay.

  8 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

  9 BY MS. TALLENT:

 10 Q. Good morning, Dr. Patole.  My name is Lauren T allent 

 11 Rogers.  I represent the defense.

 12 A. Good morning.  

 13 Q. I would like to start with your certification.   I 

 14 would just like to clarify at the time you wrote  the 

 15 report, originally in September and then the add endum in 

 16 December, you were not Board certified by the Am erican 

 17 Board of Psychiatry and Neurology as a forensic 

 18 psychiatrist?

 19 A. I had taken my board examination in mid-Septem ber.  

 20 So by the time we issued our first report I had not 

 21 heard back from the board, but the second time w hen we 

 22 submitted the second report I had received my bo ard 

 23 report and at that point I was Board certified.

 24 Q. So at the time you wrote the report, you expla ined 

 25 you were participating in this fellowship in tra ining?
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  1 A. I'm sorry.  Can you repeat the question again?

  2 Q. So at the time you wrote the report, you were 

  3 participating in training for a forensic psychia try 

  4 program; is that right?

  5 A. That is correct.

  6 Q. Okay.  And did your fellowship start roughly a round 

  7 July of 2012?

  8 A. Yes, it did.

  9 Q. Okay.  So that's approximately two months befo re you 

 10 submitted the original report in September?

 11 A. Yes.

 12 Q. Okay.  And so was this the first time that you  had 

 13 dealt with forced medication in the Bureau of Pr isons 

 14 context?

 15 A. Yes.

 16 Q. And Dr. Volin supervised your evaluation?

 17 A. Yes.

 18 Q. But she wasn't present during all of your 

 19 interaction with Mr. Duncan?

 20 A. No.

 21 Q. And there were times Dr. Volin met with Mr. Du ncan 

 22 without you?

 23 A. Yes.

 24 Q. But you wrote the report and the addendum that  are 

 25 before the Court today?
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  1 A. I'm sorry.  Can you repeat that last part agai n?

  2 Q. Yes.  You, yourself, drafted the report and th e 

  3 addendum that are before the Court today?

  4 A. The addendum-- I wrote the initial report, but  the 

  5 addendum was primarily written by Dr. Volin.

  6 Q. Okay.  Would you agree that the ultimate diagn osis 

  7 of schizoaffective disorder was yours?

  8 A. Yes.

  9 Q. And, again, just to clarify, your fellowship w ith 

 10 Butner ended in December of 2012, so you are no longer 

 11 with FMC Butner?

 12 A. I am not.  I am rotating to other sites.

 13 Q. Okay.  I would like to talk a little bit about  your 

 14 diagnosis now.

 15 So you diagnosed Mr. Duncan with schizoaffective  

 16 disorder?

 17 A. Um-hum, correct.

 18 Q. I assume you are aware that all of Mr. Duncan' s past 

 19 doctors have diagnosed him with some form of bip olar 

 20 disorder and not with schizoaffective disorder?

 21 A. That is correct.  As I mentioned earlier, ther e's a 

 22 lot of overlap between bipolar disorder and 

 23 schizoaffective disorder.  We, fortunately, have  the 

 24 benefit of time.  We have had a longer time to o bserve 

 25 his symptoms.
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  1 Q. Okay.  Just to kind of walk through them 

  2 specifically, Dr. Hege who treated Mr. Duncan of f and on 

  3 from 2008 to 2011, he diagnosed Mr. Duncan with "Rule 

  4 out bipolar disorder"; is that correct?

  5 A. Correct.  That is one of the diagnoses, yes.

  6 Q. And at Charter Peachford Hospital where he was  

  7 involuntarily committed for a short period of ti me, they 

  8 diagnosed him with bipolar disorder, most recent  episode 

  9 manic with psychotic symptoms; is that correct?

 10 A. That is correct.

 11 Q. And then Dr. Brauman, who was the BOP appointe d 

 12 psychologist that gave the competency evaluation  

 13 submitted to the Court, she diagnosed Mr. Duncan  with 

 14 bipolar type I, severe with psychotic features; is that 

 15 correct?

 16 A. That's correct.

 17 Q. And the report itself seems to imply that Dr. Volin 

 18 initially diagnosed Duncan with bipolar disorder .  On 

 19 page 15 of your report it says that she informed  him she 

 20 was treating him for bipolar disorder; is that c orrect?

 21 A. On page 15 of my report?

 22 Q. It mentions that Dr. Volin informed Mr. Duncan  she 

 23 was treating him for bipolar disorder.

 24 A. Yes, that is what Dr. Robbins' recommendations  are.

 25 Q. And so you would agree that you are the only d octor 
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  1 to have ever diagnosed Mr. Duncan with schizoaff ective 

  2 disorder?

  3 A. As I mentioned earlier, I have had the advanta ge of 

  4 looking at Mr. Duncan over a period of time rath er than 

  5 as a set period of time.  Dr. Hege when he was s eeing 

  6 Mr. Duncan-- first of all, Mr. Duncan was noncom pliant 

  7 with his medication and there were large periods  when 

  8 there were relapses in between visits.  So Dr. H ege 

  9 would not know how Mr. Duncan was doing.

 10 The second thing is, you know, again, when he 

 11 was seen at Peachford Hospital, it was like one 

 12 snapshot.  It was kind of like seeing an entire movie 

 13 versus seeing one scene of a movie.  You can't r eally 

 14 judge as to what was going on in the entire movi e based 

 15 on one scene.

 16 Again, as far as Dr. Robbins' diagnosis, when 

 17 she saw him, he was having symptoms that were co nsistent 

 18 with mania, but his symptoms have evolved over t ime and 

 19 we have seen him not manic but stil l psychotic.

 20 Q. I understand.  But just to clarify, you are th e only 

 21 doctor to have ever diagnosed Mr. Duncan with 

 22 schizoaffective disorder?

 23 A. That is correct.

 24 Q. And you are obviously familiar with DSM-IV, so  

 25 that's what you based your diagnosis on?
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  1 A. Um-hum, correct.

  2 Q. And you are familiar with DSM-IV's criteria as  it 

  3 relates to schizoaffective disorder?  

  4 A. Um-hum.

  5 Q. And as you begin to describe here, one of thos e 

  6 criteria for schizoaffective disorder is observa tion of 

  7 delusions for at least two weeks and absent of p rominent 

  8 mania symptoms?

  9 A. That's correct.

 10 Q. And the report states that you base this obser vation 

 11 on conversations with family members; is that co rrect?

 12 A. Yes, but I could clarify further.  It was not only 

 13 based on the information we got from the family,  but 

 14 also our observations here.  He was not manic wh en he 

 15 was here, but he was still psychotic for more th an two 

 16 weeks while at FMC Butner.  So it was more than just the 

 17 family report.

 18 Q.  Your report never mentioned observation of 

 19 Mr. Duncan without having mania, does it?

 20 A. It does.  I think if you look through the exam  

 21 again, you will see that there are times where h e was 

 22 able to-- he was not manic but stil l psychotic.

 23 Q. If you could point to the page in the report, that 

 24 would be great, because it does not appear the r eport 

 25 ever mentioned a description of Mr. Duncan not b eing 
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  1 manic.  In fact, on page 16 of your report you n ote that 

  2 he often had both manic and psychotic symptoms.

  3 A. Let me look at my report, and I will let you k now.  

  4 One second.

  5 THE COURT:  What page of the report are you 

  6 asking her to look to?

  7 MS. TALLENT:  This report is the addendum dated 

  8 December 17, 2012.

  9 THE COURT:  Exhibit 4?

 10 MS. TALLENT:  Exhibit 4, yes, Your Honor.

 11 BY MS. TALLENT:

 12 Q. Dr. Patole, I will go ahead and move on.

 13 A. Okay.  

 14 Q. In terms of your conversations with Mr. Duncan 's 

 15 family, did you personally talk to his family?

 16 A. No, Dr. Volin did.

 17 Q. Okay.  So a second requirement for schizoaffec tive 

 18 disorder-- in addition to observing him have del usions 

 19 without mania, a second requirement is that you must 

 20 show a manic episode concurrent with symptoms th at meet 

 21 criterion A for schizophrenia; is that correct?

 22 A. Um-hum.

 23 Q. So--

 24 A. That is correct.

 25 Q. So DSM-IV, when you are diagnosing schizoaffec tive 
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  1 disorder, takes you over to look at schizophreni a in 

  2 criterion A?

  3 A. Uh-huh.

  4 Q. Particularly, this is on page 12 of DSM-IV, it  l ists 

  5 under criterion A that you have to have some com bination 

  6 of the following:  Disorganized speech, grossly 

  7 disorganized or catatonic behavior, negative sym ptoms 

  8 such as affective flattening or bazaar delusions .

  9 A. Um-hum.

 10 Q. And he has to have at least one of those thing s 

 11 concurrent with his manic episodes and concurren t with 

 12 his delusions; is that right?

 13 A. I'm sorry.  Say the last part again, please.

 14 Q. He has to experience at least one of those lis t of 

 15 things concurrent with his manic episode and con current 

 16 with his delusions?

 17 A. Are you saying that he needs to have one of th ese 

 18 criterion A symptoms, the delusions, hallucinati ons, and 

 19 so forth, during a manic episode?

 20 Q. Yes.

 21 A. Yes.  He can have psychotic symptoms during a manic 

 22 episode, yes.  I'm not sure I'm understanding yo ur 

 23 question, frankly.

 24 Q. I will rephrase it.  

 25 Nowhere in your report do you describe Mr. Dunca n as 
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  1 having bazaar delusions, disorganized speech, 

  2 disorganized or catatonic behavior, or negative symptoms 

  3 such as affective flattening?  

  4 A. Part of the reports we received from his famil y, 

  5 Mr. Duncan did believe he could control things w ith his 

  6 mind, which I would classify as a bazaar delusio n.

  7 Q. Okay.  But you personally have not experienced  or 

  8 observed Mr. Duncan having bazaar delusions.  Hi s 

  9 delusions are, at least the majority, based in r eal 

 10 life, based in fact.  

 11 A. I mean, they are probable; but, no, they are n ot-- 

 12 Q. They involve real characters.

 13 A. I'm sorry?  

 14 Q. You would agree they involve real actors, real  

 15 people that exist in real life?  

 16 A. He had beliefs about real people, yes.  

 17 Q. Okay. 

 18 A. But they are delusions.

 19 Q. So just to clarify, your basis for criterion A  is 

 20 that he has bazaar delusions?

 21 A. I would classify being able to control things with 

 22 your mind as a bazaar delusion, yes.

 23 Q. Okay.  But you didn't personally observe that?

 24 A. No, I did not.

 25 Q. Okay.  So working with your diagnosis of 

SHARON B. BORDEN, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER

46

Case 4:11-cr-00112-RAJ-LRL   Document 57   Filed 08/28/19   Page 46 of 149 PageID# 378



S. Patole, M.D. - Cross

  1 schizoaffective disorder, delusions or hallucina tions 

  2 are one of the main characteristics; is that cor rect?

  3 A. That's correct.

  4 Q. But as we have seen from the past diagnoses of  other 

  5 doctors, delusions can also be a feature of bipo lar 

  6 disorder?

  7 A. That's correct.

  8 Q. And those are not the only mental illnesses th at can 

  9 feature delusions; is that correct?

 10 A. That's correct.

 11 Q. In fact, there's delusional disorder?

 12 A. You can have delusional disorder, yes.

 13 Q. And just because one has a particular mental 

 14 diagnosis doesn't mean that they cannot have a s econd 

 15 mental diagnosis at the same time.  That's why w e have 

 16 Axis I, Axis II; is that correct?

 17 A. No, actually Axis I is where you would list al l of 

 18 the mental health issues.  Axis II is for differ ent 

 19 personality disorders.  The system does not 

 20 differentiate that as Axis I diagnosis and Axis II is 

 21 another diagnosis, no.

 22 Q. Great.  You can have more than one diagnosis a t the 

 23 same time?

 24 A. Yes, you can.

 25 Q. So it's possible to have both a mood disorder and a 
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  1 delusional disorder?

  2 A. You are right, it's possible.  But in Mr. Dunc an's 

  3 case, that's not the case.

  4 Q. So it's possible, just like you said, that 

  5 Mr. Duncan's delusions could be a result of his bipolar 

  6 or his schizoaffective, but it 's also possible t hey 

  7 could be a result of delusional disorder?

  8 A. As I said, you could be right, but that's not the 

  9 case in Mr. Duncan's situation.

 10 Q. Schizoaffective disorder typically occurs or b egins 

 11 early in life; is that right?

 12 A. There's a range and there's always people who fall 

 13 on either side of the range, yes, but it typical ly 

 14 starts from young adulthood.

 15 Q. I'm sorry.  So you agree the typical onset is early 

 16 in life?

 17 A. Yes.

 18 Q. Mr. Duncan is currently 54 years old.  It appe ars 

 19 his symptoms began to appear in his late 40s.  D oes that 

 20 sound correct?

 21 A. That is correct.

 22 Q. And delusional disorder typically has an onset  later 

 23 in life, would you agree?

 24 A. Yes.

 25 Q. But delusional disorder is never discussed in your 
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  1 report, is it?

  2 A. As I mentioned earlier, Mr. Duncan's situation  does 

  3 not warrant a delusional disorder diagnosis, but  rather 

  4 schizoaffective.  And, again, schizoaffective di sorder 

  5 is a range.  You can say on average a person sta rts 

  6 experiencing these things at 30, or some can sta rt at 20 

  7 and some can start at 40.  You know, it's a rang e of 

  8 when a person starts to experience those symptom s.  In 

  9 Mr. Duncan's case, his symptoms don't fit delusi onal 

 10 disorder.

 11 Q. So with any of the disorders we have discussed , 

 12 including schizoaffective disorder, it 's possibl e, even 

 13 with medication, that the delusions could persis t?

 14 A. You are right, it's possible, but we have to m ake 

 15 sure that we treat Mr. Duncan and see if it 's tr ue or 

 16 not.

 17 Q. Now, you have mentioned that you reviewed the 

 18 Charter Peachford medical records?

 19 A. I'm sorry, the Peachford medical records?

 20 Q. Yes.  You reviewed those; is that correct?

 21 A. Yes, that's correct.

 22 Q. And those records indicate that even after bei ng 

 23 treated with an antipsychotic and experiencing s ome 

 24 improvement, Mr. Duncan's delusions still persis ted 

 25 somewhat?
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  1 A. That is correct.  He improved with interventio n to 

  2 hypomania, but not improve full blown mania.

  3 Q. And you also reviewed the records by Dr. Hege?

  4 A. Correct.

  5 Q. And so you are aware that Dr. Hege noted that even 

  6 while Mr. Duncan was on antipsychotics and exper ienced 

  7 some improvement, his delusions still persisted 

  8 somewhat?

  9 A. When Mr. Duncan was seeing Dr. Hege, there was  a 

 10 question of his compliance with medication and b ased on 

 11 that, I cannot comment on as to if he was taking  the 

 12 medication or not and if he was, you know, compl etely 

 13 compliant and still having symptoms.

 14 Q. Did you ever personally talk to Dr. Hege about  his 

 15 treatment of Mr. Duncan?

 16 A. No.  I reviewed his records.

 17 Q. And Dr. Hege treated Mr. Duncan off and on fro m 2008 

 18 until 2011; is that correct?

 19 A. That's correct.

 20 Q. But you didn't personally talk to him?

 21 A. No.

 22 Q. Now, you mentioned a couple studies in your re port 

 23 that you relied on for the effectiveness of the proposed 

 24 treatment plan.  

 25 A. Um-hum. 
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  1 Q. Particularly on page 22 of your report you men tioned 

  2 the Herbel and the Cochran study?

  3 A. Correct.

  4 Q. Focusing first on the Herbel study which dealt  with 

  5 the treatment of delusion disorder, Herbel did n ot make 

  6 a comparison to an untreated control group, did it?

  7 A. Actually, I'm not sure of the specifics of the  

  8 study, but if you-- I think Dr. Volin would be b etter 

  9 able to answer this question.

 10 Q. Okay.  Do you know if the Cochrane 2012 study made a 

 11 comparison to an untreated control group?

 12 A. I believe the patients were in a control group .  

 13 They did not have an untreated control group, no .

 14 Q. But you would agree that it 's a basic tenant o f the 

 15 scientific method that failure to compare the re sults to 

 16 an untreated control group can lead to an errone ous leap 

 17 in the efficacy of whatever is done?

 18 A. The gold standard is a double-blind control st udy, 

 19 but it's not feasible in every case.  This study  was 

 20 done in the Bureau of Prisons, well, that it wou ld be 

 21 unethical to not offer medication to one set of 

 22 prisoners and not offer it to others.  So that s tudy 

 23 could not be done.  So this study would not be d one.

 24 Q. But you agree that it is the gold standard in 

 25 relying on reports and their efficacy?
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  1 A. Correct.

  2 Q. I would like to move now and talk about some o f the 

  3 side effects of antipsychotics.  Your report dis cusses a 

  4 number of different antipsychotics you believe w ould 

  5 effectively treat Mr. Duncan; is that right?

  6 A. That's correct.

  7 Q. On a very basic level, and correct me if I am wrong, 

  8 antipsychotics tend to block dopamine receptors in the 

  9 brain and this can help manage psychosis, includ ing 

 10 hallucinations and delusions; is that right?

 11 A. Yes.

 12 Q. And psychosis is different from mania; is that  

 13 right?  Mania is a mood symptom.

 14 A. Actually, the dopamine hypothesis also applies  to 

 15 mania because if you think about it, drugs that increase 

 16 dopamine in your brain such as cocaine or whatev er, they 

 17 have symptoms that are similar to mania.  They s how 

 18 symptoms that are similar to psychosis.  So I gu ess we 

 19 believe both mania and psychotic symptoms are si milar; 

 20 they are related.  That's why we are able to use  

 21 antipsychotics to treat manic patients.

 22 Q. Okay.  So you believe that antipsychotics can be 

 23 used as a broad brush drug that will treat both mood 

 24 symptoms and mania or, I'm sorry, mood symptoms and 

 25 psychosis?

SHARON B. BORDEN, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER

52

Case 4:11-cr-00112-RAJ-LRL   Document 57   Filed 08/28/19   Page 52 of 149 PageID# 384



S. Patole, M.D. - Cross

  1 A. I don't believe it.  It 's just been proven by 

  2 studies that you can treat both mania and psycho tic 

  3 symptoms with antipsychotics.

  4 Q. Okay.  But it 's possible Mr. Duncan's mood sym ptoms 

  5 could persist with antipsychotics and he may nee d a mood 

  6 stabilizer; is that correct?

  7 A. You are right, it's possible.

  8 Q. And mood stabilizers do not come in injectable  

  9 forms, so they cannot be forced; is that right?

 10 A. That's right, but antipsychotics have also bee n used 

 11 as mood stabilizers by themselves and if Mr. Dun can 

 12 improves to a point that we can discuss further 

 13 medications with him with the help of antipsycho tic 

 14 medications, we could improve his symptoms furth er by 

 15 adding a mood stabilizer at that point.

 16 Q. So Mr. Duncan could later on voluntarily decid e to 

 17 take mood stabilizers, but you cannot forcibly m edicate 

 18 with mood stabilizers?

 19 A. Not at this time.  We cannot use lithium or De pakote 

 20 in a form that could be administered forcibly.  Again, 

 21 antipsychotics such as Risperdal and Haldol, bot h newer 

 22 and older ones have been used as mood stabilizer s for 

 23 people who have bipolar disorder without adding- - 

 24 Q. And you mentioned-- I'm sorry?

 25 A. I'm sorry, without the need for adding a mood 
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  1 stabilizer.

  2 Q. You mentioned that you believe Mr. Duncan 

  3 experienced some improvement at Peachford Hospit al while 

  4 he was on an antipsychotic; is that right?

  5 A. That is correct.

  6 Q. And you are aware that at Peachford Hospital w hile 

  7 he was being given an antipsychotic, he was at t he same 

  8 time being given a mood stabilizer?

  9 A. He was, yes.

 10 Q. Okay.  So to now move on and discuss some spec ific 

 11 side effects of different medications, I would l ike to 

 12 start with some medications that Mr. Duncan has been 

 13 prescribed before and that we have records of in  the 

 14 past.

 15 A. All right.

 16 Q. Now, are you aware that Mr. Duncan was prescri bed 

 17 Seroquel, which is an antipsychotic, for a short  period 

 18 of time by Dr. Westerman?

 19 A. I am not.

 20 Q. But you did review the competency evaluation 

 21 conducted by Dr. Brauman dated May 8, 2012, did you not?

 22 A. I did.  

 23 Q. Dr. Brauman's report on page 7 indicates that a 

 24 Dr. Westerman prescribed Mr. Duncan with Seroque l in 

 25 2008.
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  1 A. I'm looking on page 7, and it says that-- I'm trying 

  2 to find where he mentioned Seroquel on here.  I' m sorry, 

  3 I'm not seeing that.

  4 THE COURT:  Where are you located, Counsel?

  5 MS. TALLENT:  This is page 7 of Dr. Brauman's 

  6 competency evaluation, the middle of the second 

  7 paragraph.

  8 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  I have located it.  Yes, 

  9 that's correct.  He was treated temporarily with  

 10 Seroquel, but continued with untoward side effec ts. 

 11 BY MS. TALLENT:

 12 Q. Do you know how Dr. Brauman was able to access  these 

 13 medical records and you were not?

 14 A. I do not know.

 15 Q. Okay.  But you do know that Seroquel is an 

 16 antipsychotic?

 17 A. Yes.

 18 Q. And like many antipsychotics, it can have nume rous 

 19 side effects?

 20 A. That's correct.

 21 Q. It could include side effects such as drowsine ss?

 22 MS. STERLING:  Your Honor, I'm sorry.  I'm going  

 23 to object at this point.  I don't know why we ar e 

 24 discussing Seroquel.  It was not part of her rep ort.  

 25 It's not something that's she's reviewed.  It's contained 
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  1 in a separate report and, quite frankly, it 's no t a 

  2 medication that's recommended in the treatment p lan.  I 

  3 don't see how this is relevant.  I don't want to  have to 

  4 discuss every potential medication on the books.

  5 MS. TALLENT:  Your Honor, the doctors heavily 

  6 rely on Mr. Duncan's past treatment with antipsy chotics.  

  7 He had side effects on Seroquel, and it's mentio ned in 

  8 the report.

  9 THE COURT:  The question becomes though they 

 10 relied on it as a part of the projected treatmen t plan, 

 11 did they indicate they were going to use Seroque l?  

 12 Though they relied on it in the past, it 's irrel evant if 

 13 they are not going to use it again, they are not  going to 

 14 determine if it had those side effects.

 15 MS. TALLENT:  Your Honor, it 's very relevant 

 16 because antipsychotics tend to have similar side  effects, 

 17 and there's a reported note that he experienced side 

 18 effects while on Seroquel.  They rely on the Pea chford 

 19 Hospital records with Abilify, and Abilify is no t an 

 20 injectable.

 21 THE COURT:  The question for the Court-- it 's 

 22 not a question.  My observation is simply this:  They may 

 23 have similar side effects, but unless you can es tablish 

 24 that the side effects of Seroquel are the same a s the 

 25 side effects as the one that they are going to r ely on, 
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  1 then we are wasting time.

  2 Now, are you going to put in something that says  

  3 that the antipsychotic they plan to use in the t reatment 

  4 plan has the same side effects as Seroquel?

  5 MS. TALLENT:  Your Honor, I could ask the doctor  

  6 right now.

  7 THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, now, let's do this, 

  8 then.  Let's find out whether the antipsychotic they 

  9 intend to use in their treatment plan-- I'm tryi ng to 

 10 remember what the name is?

 11 MS. TALLENT:  Haldol.

 12 THE COURT:  Whether that has the same side 

 13 effects as Seroquel.  

 14 MS. TALLENT:  Yes, sir.

 15 THE COURT:  Then the discussion of Seroquel will  

 16 become relevant.

 17 MS. STERLING:  May I make one additional 

 18 objection, Your Honor?  

 19 Looking at this report counsel is making 

 20 reference to, all it says is he was given Seroqu el and it 

 21 was discontinued because of side effects and tha t 

 22 Dr. Brauman reviewed that.  There was no--

 23 THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, that's something you 

 24 can ask on redirect.  Let's just get this point straight, 

 25 and then you can ask that on redirect.
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  1 MS. STERLING:  Yes, Your Honor.

  2 THE COURT:  Let's get this straight.  Otherwise,  

  3 let's leave Seroquel alone.

  4 BY MS. TALLENT:  

  5 Q. Dr. Patole, Seroquel is an antipsychotic.  Wou ld you 

  6 agree that it has similar side effects to Haldol , which 

  7 is also an antipsychotic?  

  8 A. So Seroquel is a newer antipsychotic versus Ha ldol.  

  9 Haldol is one of the older antipsychotics.  As I  

 10 mentioned earlier, the older antipsychotics have  

 11 different side effects that we worry about over the 

 12 newer ones.  The older antipsychotics we worry a bout the 

 13 mood disorders that I mentioned earlier where th e newer 

 14 antipsychotics we worry more about the metabolic  side 

 15 effects.

 16 Q. Okay.  I will move on to the next drug.  Your report 

 17 mentions that Dr. Hege prescribed Mr. Duncan Abi lify; is 

 18 that correct?

 19 A. That's correct.

 20 Q. And Abilify is an antipsychotic?

 21 A. Yes.

 22 Q. It's an antipsychotic that you highly recommen d if 

 23 Mr. Duncan will take voluntarily; is that right?

 24 A. That's correct.

 25 Q. And similar to many antipsychotics, Abilify ca n have 
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  1 side effects?

  2 A. Yes, it can.

  3 Q. Specifically, Abilify can cause dizziness, 

  4 drowsiness, fatigue, sedation?

  5 A. Yes.  That is one of the slew of side effects 

  6 included in the packaging list.

  7 Q. As you discussed earlier, it can also cause 

  8 neuroleptic malignant syndrome, which you descri be as a 

  9 life-threatening neurologic disorder?

 10 A. That's correct.

 11 Q. And another side effect is Tardive Dyskinesia,  which 

 12 is involuntary muscle movements?

 13 A. Actually, Abilify is one of the newer 

 14 antipsychotics.  It 's less likely to cause the T ardive 

 15 Dyskinesia than the older antipsychotics like Ha ldol and 

 16 Perphenazine.

 17 Q. I understand that it may be less likely than H aldol, 

 18 but it's stil l a potential side effect.  Do you agree?

 19 A. That's correct.

 20 Q. Seizures are another potential side effect tha t have 

 21 been noted with Abilify.  Would you agree?

 22 A. I'm sorry.  Can you repeat the first part of t he 

 23 question?

 24 Q. Another side effect that has been reported for  

 25 Abilify are seizures.  Would you agree?
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  1 A. Yes, it 's a potential side effect.

  2 Q. And in your report you note that Mr. Duncan 

  3 complained of side effects when he was on Abilif y; is 

  4 that correct?

  5 A. Yes, that's correct.

  6 Q. Specifically, he complained of feeling nonfunc tional 

  7 and lethargic and complained of sedation; is tha t 

  8 correct?

  9 A. So that's correct.  It's kind of like a normal  speed 

 10 limit is 45.  But if you are driving 100 miles p er hour 

 11 and, you know, somebody stops you and says, hey,  you 

 12 have got to go 45, of course you are going to sa y I'm 

 13 going slower, I am functioning less; I am lethar gic.  So 

 14 compared to his 100 miles per hour, yes, he was slower.  

 15 Again, that's the best way I can understand what  he was 

 16 trying to explain to me.

 17 Q. And Mr. Duncan was again prescribed Abilify by  

 18 Dr. Volin recently in February of 2013.  Are you  aware 

 19 of that?

 20 A. I am not since I was not here.

 21 Q. Okay.  So you are not aware that he also compl ained 

 22 of feeling sedated and lethargic?

 23 A. As I mentioned, I was not here.  I left in Dec ember 

 24 of 2012.

 25 Q. And although it's your opinion that these symp toms 
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  1 may just be a result of Mr. Duncan's brain appro priately 

  2 reacting to the antipsychotic, you would agree t hat 

  3 feeling sedated and lethargic and nonfunctional,  those 

  4 are all reported side effects of these antipsych otics?

  5 A. Again, sedation is a potential side effect, bu t 

  6 again, we will monitor him for it and also you w ill dose 

  7 it appropriately.  Also, the longer he's on the 

  8 medication, the less the sedation will be someth ing that 

  9 will interfere with his functioning.

 10 Q. Okay.  So Mr. Duncan was also prescribed Rispe rdal 

 11 at FMC Butner in June of 2012; is that right?

 12 A. That's correct.  Starting in July.

 13 Q. I'm sorry, July.  And Risperdal is also an 

 14 antipsychotic; is that correct?

 15 A. Yes.

 16 Q. And side effects of Risperdal can also include  

 17 sedation, fatigue, dizziness?

 18 A. That's correct.

 19 Q. And it can include neuroleptic malignant syndr ome, 

 20 that life-threatening neurological disorder?  

 21 A. Yes, that's possible.

 22 Q. And Tardive Dyskinesia is also possible?  

 23 A. Again, Risperdal is one of the newer medicatio ns, so 

 24 it's less likely, but, yes, it 's possible.

 25 Q. Seizures are also possible?
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  1 A. Yeah, that is slightly.

  2 Q. Now, you mentioned earlier you were aware that  

  3 Mr. Duncan was prescribed Risperdal in July of 2 012.  

  4 Are you also aware that he stops taking those 

  5 medications shortly thereafter and complained of  side 

  6 effects?

  7 A. Again, I'm not sure exactly-- we can't be sure  the 

  8 medication caused the side effects-- that Risper dal 

  9 caused side effects because, again, we found med ications 

 10 in his cell that he had not taken.  So I don't k now, I 

 11 cannot put 2 and 2 together.

 12 Q. Your report notes that he was prescribed the 

 13 medication on July 27, and then it was on August  2nd, 

 14 2012 that he stopped taking it and you found two  pills 

 15 in his room; is that right?

 16 A. That's correct.  That's what the report says.

 17 Q. So from July 27th to August 2nd, even taking a way 

 18 two pills he potentially took at least five dose s of 

 19 Abilify-- or Risperdal, I'm sorry?

 20 A. Again, this is based on a pattern Mr. Duncan h as of 

 21 noncompliance.  So it is possible that he took t he five 

 22 doses and was experiencing side effects, but I c an't say 

 23 for sure.

 24 Q. And do you know what the specific side effects  he 

 25 complained of consisted of?
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  1 A. Mr. Duncan basically complained about feeling slowed 

  2 down, I believe.

  3 Q. I do not believe the report ever mentions any 

  4 specific complaints of side effects.  Was a reco rd made 

  5 of those complaints?

  6 A. Yes, I think so.  It should be in the Bureau o f 

  7 Prisons records in the medical records.

  8 Q. But you didn't describe his experience or comp laints 

  9 in your report?

 10 A. I did not, no.

 11 Q. Now, in addition to Mr. Duncan's own complaint s of 

 12 side effects, your report notes that his side ef fects 

 13 have also been observed by others.  Specifically  on page 

 14 6 of your report, you note that his wife mention s he was 

 15 often zombie-like on antipsychotics?

 16 A. Yes.  I recall that being documented, yes.

 17 Q. I would like to now move to some of the 

 18 antipsychotics you recommend.  First I would lik e to 

 19 talk about Haldol.  That's your No. 1 recommende d 

 20 antipsychotic; is that right?

 21 A. If Mr. Duncan does not take medications volunt ary, 

 22 that would be the No. 1 recommended injectable 

 23 medication, yes.

 24 Q. And in your report on page 29 you note that it  will 

 25 likely be ineffective for the Court to threaten a 
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  1 contempt order in order to get Mr. Duncan to tak e the 

  2 medication voluntarily.  So in your opinion it's  

  3 unlikely he's going to take his medication volun tarily?

  4 A. It is unlikely, but again, if we have the supp ort of 

  5 the Court, that could give Mr. Duncan a differen t 

  6 perspective on things and he might be more coope rative 

  7 to his treatment.

  8 Q. But on page 29 of your report you say that a 

  9 contempt order from the Court is not effective i n 

 10 persuading defendants to take medication; is tha t 

 11 correct?

 12 A. Again, how Mr. Duncan is going to react to the  Court 

 13 order I cannot say, but I'm putting a positive s pin on 

 14 things that I'm hoping that we can work with Mr.  Duncan 

 15 on a voluntary basis.

 16 Q. Okay.  Well, given that Haldol is your No. 1 

 17 injectable medication, it's an antipsychotic tha t would 

 18 have side effects; is that correct?

 19 A. Yes, it does.

 20 Q. Specifically on Haldol, one can experience let hargy, 

 21 heart arrythmia, drowsiness or sedation; is that  

 22 correct?

 23 A. Again, these are all known side effects of Hal dol, 

 24 and we are going to be monitoring Mr. Duncan clo sely in 

 25 the hospital setting for these side effects.
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  1 Q. And you can also experience neuroleptic malign ant 

  2 syndrome, a life-threatening neurologic disorder ?

  3 A. Yes.  And again, it 's possible.  But again, we  are 

  4 going to be monitoring him closely in a hospital ized 

  5 setting.

  6 Q. And the risk of Tardive Dyskinesia is higher w ith 

  7 Haldol than with many other antipsychotics; is t hat 

  8 right?

  9 A. That is correct.  But again, the risk increase s 

 10 after more than six months of therapy with Haldo l.  If 

 11 Mr. Duncan is able to maintain well, we can even  talk 

 12 about switching him to another less antipsychoti c 

 13 medication that is less likely to do so long ter m, but 

 14 immediately we need to stabilize him where we ca n have 

 15 that discussion with him.

 16 Q. Another side effect that has been reported wit h 

 17 Haldol is sudden death; is that correct?

 18 A. That is correct, in folks who have dementia.  

 19 There's a black box warning regarding this that folks 

 20 who have-- elderly folks who have dementia have a higher 

 21 risk of sudden death with antipsychotic medicati ons.

 22 Q. You just mentioned earlier that this risk with  

 23 Haldol, especially for Tardive Dyskinesia, only 

 24 increases in the long term; is that correct?

 25 A. Yes.  The longer you are on the medication, th e 
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  1 higher the risk.

  2 Q. And your report also mentions Cogentin may be also 

  3 given in conjunction with Haldol to combat some of these 

  4 muscular side effects; is that correct?

  5 A. Yes.  Cogentin can be given to combat any symp tom 

  6 that the patient may be experiencing with Haldol .

  7 Q. And Cogentin is a medication that could have s ide 

  8 effects; is that correct?

  9 A. That is correct.

 10 Q. But your report does not discuss any side effe cts 

 11 associated with Cogentin; is that correct?

 12 A. It does not.

 13 Q. Specifically, studies have shown that Cogentin  can 

 14 increase the risk of Tardive Dyskinesia.  Are yo u aware 

 15 of that?

 16 A. I am not.

 17 Q. I would like to move to the next antipsychotic  you 

 18 recommend, and that's Prolixin.

 19 Q. Okay.  Prolixin, I guess, is a common name for  

 20 Fluphenazine; is that correct?

 21 A. That's correct.

 22 Q. And Prolixin is an antipsychotic that can have  side 

 23 effects?

 24 A. Yes.

 25 Q. It can cause neuroleptic malignant syndrome an d 
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  1 Tardive Dyskinesia?

  2 A. Yes.

  3 Q. And it can also cause mental and physical 

  4 disabilities and cause liver damage potentially?   

  5 A. It's possible.

  6 Q. And the third antipsychotic you list is Risper dal; 

  7 is that correct?

  8 A. That's correct.

  9 Q. And we've already discussed the side effects o f 

 10 Risperdal and Duncan's past complaints of side e ffects 

 11 on that medication; is that correct?

 12 A. That's correct.

 13 Q. And with all of these side effects, in additio n to 

 14 the serious ones I have pointed out, it can also  cause 

 15 metabolic side effects such as weight gain, diab etes, 

 16 elevated serum lipids; is that correct?

 17 A. That's correct.  Again, these are all of the s ide 

 18 effects that we would be watching Mr. Duncan clo sely 

 19 for.

 20 Q. And we have discussed Tardive Dyskinesia, whic h is a 

 21 painful involuntary muscle spasm.  

 22 A. That's correct. 

 23 Q. Tardive Dyskinesia can be irreversible even af ter 

 24 discontinuing the medication; is that correct?

 25 A. It is possible, yes.
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  1 Q. And, again, this risk of Tardive Dyskinesia, t his 

  2 irreversible risk only increases with time; is t hat 

  3 correct?

  4 A. That is correct.

  5 Q. Ultimately we have discussed multiple medicati ons at 

  6 this point and numerous side effects, and part o f the 

  7 reason we have discussed so many is that you can not say 

  8 definitively which specific medications will act ually be 

  9 administered to Mr. Duncan; is that correct?

 10 A. That's correct.  Again, this is all based on w hat 

 11 options we will have available when we are allow ed to 

 12 treat Mr. Duncan.  Every medication has a side e ffect, 

 13 but again, you always weigh the risk against the  

 14 benefit.  The benefit is that he will be able to  go on 

 15 with his legal issues and be able to resolve the m, 

 16 whereas just kind of languish here in this limbo  state.

 17 Q. So it's possible Mr. Duncan could be given a 

 18 medication that's not listed in the report; is t hat 

 19 correct?

 20 A. We have proposed this plan and, yes, we are go ing to 

 21 be trying to adhere to this plan.  That's the re ason we 

 22 proposed it.

 23 Q. But again, as you mentioned earlier, you can't  

 24 guarantee that any of these medications will be the 

 25 actual medications that are administered?
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  1 A. I mean, as a physician I cannot guarantee anyt hing.  

  2 It would be wrong of me to say so.

  3 Q. And this is especially true given you will not  be 

  4 involved in the treatment of Mr. Duncan?

  5 A. That's correct, I will not be involved in 

  6 Mr. Duncan's treatment as I will have graduated.

  7 Q. I would like to just briefly go back and discu ss the 

  8 long term versus short term side effects we ment ioned 

  9 earlier.  Your report mentions, and you have sai d today, 

 10 that Tardive Dyskinesia is much less likely to e merge 

 11 over the short term; is that correct?

 12 A. That's correct, only after about six months of  

 13 therapy.

 14 Q. Okay.  So by short term, you think six months or 

 15 less or likely the four-month period he will be treated?

 16 A. That's correct.

 17 Q. So in evaluating his side effects, you took in to 

 18 consideration this short-term period you thought  he 

 19 would be forcibly medicated for?

 20 A. I think that's correct, I think.  Again, clari fy 

 21 your question, please?  I had a hard time hearin g the 

 22 last part.

 23 Q. Yes.  When you evaluated the side effects of t he 

 24 antipsychotics that you recommend, you took into  account 

 25 the short term four-month period that you believ e he 
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  1 will be medicated for?

  2 A. That's correct.

  3 Q. But ultimately, no matter what the time frame,  it 's 

  4 possible that any of these side effects could ap pear in 

  5 the short term?

  6 A. It's always possible.

  7 THE COURT:  Let's put it this way:  I have 

  8 listened to the questions about what is possible .  The 

  9 Court always understands it really calls for 

 10 speculation.  Anything is possible when you star t talking 

 11 about medication.  So I hear the questions and I  hear the 

 12 answers, but I understand it's pure speculation about 

 13 what might happen with all of these drugs.

 14 You can continue.

 15 BY MS. TALLENT:

 16 Q. To move on from some of the side effects-- bef ore we 

 17 completely move on, I would like to discuss moni toring 

 18 these side effects.  You have mentioned that you  will 

 19 closely monitor for the emergence of any of thes e side 

 20 effects; is that right?

 21 A. That's correct.

 22 Q. Because it's very important, especially with t hings 

 23 like Tardive Dyskinesia that can be permanent an d 

 24 debilitating, that you catch these signs early; is that 

 25 right?
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  1 A. That's correct.

  2 Q. But on page 25 of your report you note that th e 

  3 treating psychiatrist will only check for delaye d onset 

  4 mood disorders on a monthly basis.

  5 A. That's correct.

  6 Q. And even assuming that you can effectively mon itor 

  7 him at FMC Butner, there's going to be a period of time 

  8 where if he's rendered competent, he will leave FMC 

  9 Butner for his trial; is that correct?

 10 A. I think you are asking me to speculate about t he 

 11 future, which I have no power to do, about where  he will 

 12 go and what type of treatment he will receive.

 13 Q. So you cannot guarantee that his side effects will 

 14 be monitored once he leaves FMC Butner?

 15 A. Like I said, I can't guarantee anything.

 16 Q. And do you know if any of these local prisons will 

 17 even administer these antipsychotics?

 18 MS. STERLING:  Objection, Your Honor.  Clearly 

 19 she has no basis of knowledge for that.

 20 THE COURT:  Sustained.  She has indicated she is  

 21 leaving training and she can't speculate about w hat they 

 22 are going to do after she leaves.

 23 MS. TALLENT:  Yes, sir, Your Honor.

 24 BY MS. TALLENT:

 25 Q. Now, moving on, not only have you opined that your 
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  1 treatment plan will be substantially likely to r ender 

  2 Mr. Duncan competent, but you have also opined t hat none 

  3 of these side effects will interfere with his ab ility to 

  4 assist counsel; is that correct?

  5 A. That is correct.  We are going to be monitorin g him 

  6 periodically and closely to make sure that he is  

  7 receiving the best possible side-effect profile,  

  8 basically, that they are minimizing all these si de 

  9 effects.

 10 Q. Presumably you have never sat at counsel table  in a 

 11 criminal trial, have you?

 12 MS. STERLING:  Objection, Your Honor.

 13 THE COURT:  I will see where we are going with 

 14 this question.  I think-- let's see where we are  going 

 15 with this question.

 16 BY MS. TALLENT:

 17 Q. I'm sorry, I didn't hear your answer.

 18 A. Can you please repeat your question?

 19 Q. You have never sat at counsel table in a crimi nal 

 20 trial, have you?

 21 A. No, as a doctor, I have not.

 22 Q. So you have not experienced what it really is for a 

 23 defendant to assist in his defense?  

 24 A. I have not.

 25 Q. So you would agree that a defendant may have t o sit 
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  1 relatively still for long periods of time?

  2 MS. STERLING:  Objection again, Your Honor.  

  3 This witness has no basis of knowledge for answe ring 

  4 these questions.

  5 THE COURT:  Well, the Court will permit her to 

  6 rephrase the question as a hypothetical in terms  of 

  7 whether-- as a hypothetical, since she has never  sat at 

  8 counsel table, to get at what potential side eff ects may 

  9 come into play.

 10 MS. TALLENT:  Yes, Your Honor.

 11 BY MS. TALLENT:

 12 Q. So you would agree that, hypothetically, in a 

 13 criminal trial a defendant may have to sit for l ong 

 14 periods of time?

 15 A. That's correct.

 16 THE COURT:  Well, that's the wrong form, but she  

 17 said correct.

 18 BY MS. TALLENT:

 19 Q. And, hypothetically, he will have to respond q uickly 

 20 to questions from his counsel?

 21 MS. STERLING:  Your Honor, again, the government  

 22 objects.

 23 THE COURT:  Well, I sustain the objection 

 24 because of the form of the question.  I told you  that you 

 25 could put it in the form of a hypothetical, the 
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  1 hypothetical being if A, B, C, D, E and F, then what is 

  2 the potential impact of certain antipsychotic dr ugs?  If 

  3 you are sitting long, if you have to confer with  counsel, 

  4 if then what impact potentially would the antips ychotic 

  5 drugs have?  

  6 BY MS. TALLENT:

  7 Q. I will just reiterate, and then I will move on , that 

  8 you opined that these side effects are not likel y to 

  9 interfere with his ability to assist counsel, bu t you 

 10 have never experienced or sat at counsel table a t a 

 11 criminal trial; is that correct?

 12 A. I have no experience with criminal proceedings , no.

 13 Q. Okay.  I will move on to discuss alternative l ess 

 14 intrusive treatments.  You didn't consider less 

 15 intrusive treatments to forced medication, did y ou?

 16 A. There are no alternative medications-- alterna tive 

 17 treatment to medications at this point for Mr. D uncan.

 18 Q. Your report states that cognitive behavioral t herapy 

 19 could be considered in conjunction with antipsyc hotics; 

 20 is that correct?

 21 A. Again, the key word is in conjunction, not by 

 22 itself.

 23 Q. Right.  Have you ever attempted cognitive beha vioral 

 24 therapy without also treating with antipsychotic s?

 25 A. No.
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  1 Q. And you are not willing to consider less commo n 

  2 alternatives such as dark therapy?

  3 A. I am not-- there is no such thing as dark ther apy.  

  4 I know it's a theoretical treatment model, but i t 's not 

  5 something I would treat my patients with.

  6 Q. Although you may not agree with it, you would agree 

  7 that there are studies showing that dark therapy  can be 

  8 a treatment for mania?

  9 A. Actually, I am just aware of one paper that I 

 10 glanced at, so I am not familiar with the litera ture, 

 11 no.

 12 Q. But dark therapy simply consists of induced 

 13 darkness; is that correct?

 14 A. I think basically dark therapy is putting some body 

 15 in isolation, which Mr. Duncan was in isolation when he 

 16 was in New York, but it was not effective.

 17 Q. Have you ever attempted any alternative treatm ents 

 18 besides medication?

 19 A. No, I have not, not for somebody who is largel y 

 20 psychotic.

 21 Q. Mr. Duncan is very willing to participate in 

 22 alternative treatments, isn't he?

 23 A. I would commend Mr. Duncan for that, but at th is 

 24 time in my medical judgment he requires medicati on and 

 25 not any alternative therapy.
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  1 Q. But you would agree he's willing to a particip ate in 

  2 alternative treatments?

  3 A. I am not willing.

  4 Q. To touch briefly on Mr. Duncan's fundamental r ights, 

  5 you would agree that it's a tenant of your medic al 

  6 license which was issued by the North Carolina m edical 

  7 board that there be a respect for patient autono my?  

  8 A. I'm sorry, can you repeat the last part?

  9 Q. Sure.  One of the tenants of your medical lice nse 

 10 which was issued by the North Carolina medical b oard is 

 11 a respect for patient autonomy?

 12 A. And in order for me-- I think-- I respect my 

 13 patients, but at this time Mr. Duncan lacks the insight 

 14 and the judgment in his il lness that does not al low him 

 15 to make medical decisions for himself.  He does not have 

 16 the insight or judgment.  As a physician, it 's p art of 

 17 my job in treating my patients to recommend the best 

 18 therapy possible.

 19 Q. Have you witnessed the forced medication proce dure 

 20 when a defendant is uncooperative?

 21 A. I have not since I have been here, no.

 22 Q. Do you know what the procedure is?

 23 MS. STERLING:  Objection to the relevance again,  

 24 Your Honor.  She says she has never witnessed it .  There 

 25 is no suggestion there's any forced medication t reatment 
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  1 protocol in the treatment plan.

  2 THE COURT:  Well, the Court sustains the 

  3 objection.  She says she has not witnessed it.  You asked 

  4 does she know what it is?  I don't know that the se 

  5 questions and answers are going to help the Cour t decide 

  6 the four Sell factors.

  7 BY MS. TALLENT:

  8 Q. On page 34 of your report you mentioned that 

  9 standard procedures will be used to forcibly med icate 

 10 the defendant if he becomes uncooperative?

 11 A. That is correct.

 12 Q. So my question is, are you aware of what those  

 13 procedures are?

 14 A. I don't know the specifics of them, no.

 15 Q. Okay.  Just to end, you are no longer at FMC B utner; 

 16 is that correct?

 17 A. That's correct.

 18 Q. And so you will not be administering or treati ng 

 19 Mr. Duncan?

 20 A. I will not.

 21 Q. And so because you are gone and you have no co ntrol 

 22 over his treatment, you can't say with certainty  that 

 23 the medications discussed in the report will be the 

 24 medications actually administered?

 25 A. You are correct, I cannot speculate about what 's 
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  1 going to happen.

  2 MS. TALLENT:  Okay.  Thank you, Dr. Patole.  

  3 Those are all the questions I have.

  4 THE COURT:  Any redirect?

  5 MS. STERLING:  I will be brief, Your Honor.

  6 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

  7 BY MS. STERLING:

  8 Q. Dr. Patole, defense counsel asked you about th e 

  9 number of diagnoses Mr. Duncan has had in the pa st.  

 10 With regard to Dr. Hege's diagnosis, you indicat ed, and 

 11 this is in the report, it was rule out bipolar.  What 

 12 does "rule out" mean?

 13 A. So "rule out" diagnosis is a working diagnosis .  

 14 It's a diagnosis in progress.  It 's not the ulti mate 

 15 diagnosis, but it's an assumed diagnosis.  You d on't 

 16 have a complete picture, and that's why we used the word 

 17 "rule out".

 18 Q. Okay.  So he's thinking it could be.  It 's pos sibly 

 19 bipolar.  That wasn't an actual diagnosis?

 20 A. That's correct, it 's a possible diagnosis.

 21 Q. Okay.  And the Peachford diagnosis was bipolar  

 22 manic; is that correct?

 23 A. That's correct.

 24 Q. Okay.  Dr. Brauman's diagnosis was bipolar, se vere 

 25 with psychotic features, correct?
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  1 A. That's correct.

  2 Q. Just briefly, if you could, tell us what is 

  3 different between your diagnosis and the diagnos is of 

  4 the Peachford doctors and Dr. Brauman?

  5 A. I'm going to go back to the analogy of a movie .  

  6 Both at Peachford and Dr. Brauman saw Mr. Duncan  at 

  7 certain points of time, but we have the advantag e of 

  8 reviewing their record and collecting informatio n from 

  9 everybody else.  Rather than just seeing him on these 

 10 instances, we have seen the entire-- we have kin d of 

 11 reviewed the history to know what type of sympto ms he 

 12 was having.  

 13 So based on that, you know, he was having 

 14 psychotic symptoms when he was less manic.  He w as 

 15 having-- you know, when he was manic, he had per iods of 

 16 true mania, that he was not sleeping, he was ver y 

 17 hyperverbal, and so forth.  So based on that, we  

 18 diagnosed him as schizoaffective disorder.

 19 Q. Okay.  Correct me if I am wrong.  Bipolar diso rder 

 20 is characterized by mania; is that correct?

 21 A. Yes, that's correct.  In order for him to meet  

 22 criteria for bipolar disorder, he must have had 

 23 experienced a manic episode.

 24 Q. Do you necessarily have psychotic features wit h 

 25 bipolar?
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  1 A. It's not necessary for-- that's correct, it 's not 

  2 required for the episode to have psychotic featu res.

  3 Q. And the term "psychotic features", what does t hat 

  4 mean?

  5 A. Sure.  Psychotic features or psychotic symptom s are 

  6 what we call delusions, hallucinations.  You kno w, 

  7 deluded like a fake belief, and hallucinations a re 

  8 auditory, visual hallucinations, meaning you hea r things 

  9 no one else can hear and you see things no one e lse can 

 10 see.  So those can be psychotic features.

 11 Q. And psychotic features are characteristic or 

 12 symptomatic of schizophrenia; is that correct?

 13 A. I'm sorry.  Could you repeat the question, ple ase?  

 14 Q. Psychotic features are characteristic or sympt omatic 

 15 of schizophrenia; is that correct?

 16 A. Yes.  Delusions and hallucinations can be symp toms 

 17 of schizophrenia.

 18 Q. So Dr. Brauman's evaluation of bipolar severe with 

 19 psychotic features, that diagnosis acknowledges an 

 20 observation of mania and delusion or psychotic f eatures 

 21 in the patient, Mr. Duncan; is that correct?

 22 A. That's correct.

 23 Q. And these were the same features that you obse rved 

 24 that led you to your diagnosis; is that correct?

 25 A. That is correct.  Again, it was an episodic pe riod 
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  1 where he was manic and psychotic at the same tim e, but 

  2 when we saw him here at FMC, he was mainly psych otic.

  3 Q. All right.  Now, counsel asked you quite a bit  about 

  4 delusional disorder.  Is delusional disorder a 

  5 recognized diagnosis?

  6 A. It is a recognized diagnosis.  It's a nonbazaa r 

  7 fixed belief that-- or nonbazaar delusion that i s 

  8 interfering with somebody's life.

  9 Q. What do you mean by nonbazaar delusion?

 10 A. Nonbazaar is something that's possible to occu r.  An 

 11 example would be a student who thinks that their  

 12 teachers may be grading them unfairly, and that' s the 

 13 only belief that they subscribe to and you can't  talk 

 14 them out of it.

 15 Q. And so how is delusional disorder different fr om 

 16 schizoaffective disorder bipolar type II that yo u have 

 17 diagnosed?

 18 A. So again, delusional disorder, that's the only  

 19 symptom you have.  You just have this held belie f.  You 

 20 don't have any root symptoms.

 21 Q. No mania?

 22 A. No mania, no depression.  You just have the 

 23 delusional belief.  

 24 Q. Okay.  And based on your evaluation that would  

 25 include your observations and discussions with 
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  1 Mr. Duncan, as well as your review of his record s, can 

  2 you see any basis for diagnosing him with delusi onal 

  3 disorder as opposed to schizoaffective or bipola r severe 

  4 with psychotic features?

  5 A. No.  Based on our evaluation, he meets criteri a for 

  6 schizoaffective disorder and bipolar type II.

  7 Q. Would it be fair to say that you ruled out 

  8 delusional disorder?

  9 A. Yes, it was ruled out.  

 10 Q. Thank you.  When we are talking about whether 

 11 delusion is bazaar or nonbazaar, what exactly is  the 

 12 nature of Mr. Duncan's delusion?

 13 A. Mr. Duncan had both bazaar and nonbazaar delus ions.  

 14 He believed that Mr. Rose swindled him out of so me 

 15 money, which we know is correct, but again he ca rried it 

 16 to the next degree, believing that Mr. Rose is a fter him 

 17 for monitoring him; he was monitoring his router  

 18 activity and so forth.  He also had bazaar delus ions 

 19 such as I'm able to control things with my mind.   

 20 Q. Right. 

 21 A. But he has a combination of both.

 22 Q. Okay.  And as far as his delusion involving 

 23 Mr. Rose, he had also involved a Ms. Bashama; is  that 

 24 correct.  

 25 A. That's correct.
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  1 Q. Who does his delusion extend to beyond those t wo 

  2 persons?

  3 A. I'm sorry.  Say again?

  4 Q. Who is included in that delusion beyond those two 

  5 persons?  Does his delusion apply to persons out side of 

  6 those two individuals?

  7 A. Yeah.  So initially Mr. Duncan's delusions wer e only 

  8 encompassing Mr. Rose and Ms. Bashama.  When he came 

  9 here, the more resistant he got to the staff in terms of 

 10 his delusions, he included more and more folks i nto that 

 11 delusion, including Dr. Volin as being involved in a 

 12 conspiracy with Mr. Rose against him.

 13 Q. All right.  And did it also include government  

 14 agencies and other persons involved in these 

 15 proceedings?

 16 A. Yes.  It involves the FBI, the IRS and the 

 17 military.  The scope of these delusions has cont inued to 

 18 expand.

 19 Q. Okay.  You made reference to interviews with f amily 

 20 members, including his ex-wife and son.  Are the re 

 21 indications that he had a delusion that he had m ind 

 22 control?  Doesn't your report also indicate on p age 7 

 23 that he has a delusion that he is the grandson o f Albert 

 24 Einstein?

 25 A. That is correct.  That's one of his delusions that 
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  1 while his grandmother-- Albert Einstein was at t he place 

  2 where his mother was staying, and he's related t o Albert 

  3 Einstein.

  4 Q. Would you characterize that as bazaar or nonba zaar 

  5 delusion?

  6 A. I would definitely characterize that as a baza ar 

  7 delusion.

  8 Q. All right.  Moving on to the medications, you were 

  9 asked about the different medications and, speci fically, 

 10 about mood stabilizers.  Just to be clear, these  

 11 medications, the antipsychotics, they have mood 

 12 stabilizing attributes; is that correct?

 13 A. That is correct.  Antipsychotic medications ar e used 

 14 as mood stabilizers in folks with bipolar disord er or 

 15 schizoaffective disorder.

 16 Q. Okay.  It is, of course, the case and you woul d 

 17 agree that all medications have side effects; is  that 

 18 correct?

 19 A. I'm sorry?

 20 Q. That all medications have side effects?

 21 A. That is correct.

 22 Q. And the reported treatment plan, they outlined  every 

 23 instance where side effects are discussed, the 

 24 likelihood, the possibility, as well as a plan t o 

 25 monitor and treat side effects; is that correct?
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  1 A. That's correct.

  2 Q. And as far as these severe side effects, the 

  3 neuroleptic malignant syndrome and sudden death 

  4 syndrome, the report does outline that these are  very, 

  5 very unlikely to occur; is that correct?

  6 A. These are extremely rare side effects.

  7 Q. But, as in all medications, you as a physician  are 

  8 setting forth all of the possible side effects f or the 

  9 purposes of disclosure and letting the Court kno w that 

 10 you are aware of these and plan to deal with the m; is 

 11 that correct?

 12 A. That's correct.

 13 Q. Also, the--

 14 THE COURT:  You are doing a fine job of leading 

 15 there, Counsel.

 16 MS. STERLING:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  I've got 

 17 to wind this up.

 18 THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.

 19 BY MS. STERLING:

 20 Q. As far as alternative treatments, you indicate d in 

 21 response to the question that cognitive behavior  theory 

 22 would not be effective alone with Mr. Duncan.  W hy is 

 23 that?

 24 A. Cognitive behavior therapy is for a patient wh o has 

 25 psychotic delusions and would involve somebody w illing 
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  1 to work with a therapist in acknowledging that t heir 

  2 beliefs might be true.  That's pretty hard to do  with 

  3 Mr. Duncan.  It's unlikely that any therapist wo uld be 

  4 able to work with him on that delusional belief.   That's 

  5 why cognitive behavior therapy is always used in  

  6 conjunction with medication, because it gives us  that 

  7 little wiggle room to have the patient work on t heir 

  8 delusional beliefs and work through them.

  9 MS. STERLING:  Okay.  Thank you, Dr. Patole.

 10 THE COURT:  Ladies and gentlemen, I think this 

 11 is the time to take a break.  We are going to ta ke about 

 12 a 15-minute break and when we come back, we are going to 

 13 the next witness.

 14 (A recess was taken at 12:04 p.m., after which 

 15 court reconvened at 12:25 p.m.)

 16 THE COURT:  Counsel, may Dr. Patole be excused 

 17 permanently?

 18 MS. STERLING:  No objection from the government,  

 19 Your Honor.  Thank you.

 20 MS. TALLENT:  No objection.

 21 THE COURT:  All right.  Doctor, you may be 

 22 excused permanently.  Thank you very much.

 23 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

 24 (Witness excused.)

 25 THE COURT:  We still have two witnesses here.
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  1 MS. STERLING:  The government would like to call  

  2 next Dr. Jill Volin.  I'm not sure that we are g oing to 

  3 need the third witness.  I would ask him to rema in.

  4 THE COURT:  Well, what I prefer to do during the  

  5 course of the testimony is just have one there a t the 

  6 table, whoever is testifying.  They can remain, but I 

  7 just want one there at the table.

  8 MS. STERLING:  Perhaps we don't need Mr. Marra.  

  9 Quite frankly, Your Honor, Mr. Marra was here to day in 

 10 case there was some question that arose.  He is currently 

 11 treating Mr. Duncan at the facility.  The govern ment had 

 12 no questions, but thought the Court might have q uestions 

 13 and wanted him to be available for that purpose.

 14 THE COURT:  Okay.  If he would just step out of 

 15 the frame of the camera, he can just wait in cas e we need 

 16 him.  

 17 Okay.  That way we are looking at one person.

 18 MS. STERLING:  Yes, sir.

 19 (The witness was sworn by the deputy clerk.)

 20 THE COURT:  Before we get started, approximately  

 21 how long do you think this direct examination wi ll 

 22 probably take?

 23 MS. STERLING:  Perhaps 45 minutes.  No more than  

 24 that.  I 'm going to try to shorten it up so we d on't have 

 25 too much repetition.
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  1 THE COURT:  The Court has a jury that's waiting,  

  2 and I'm trying to make sure I don't conflict wit h that 

  3 schedule.  So I think what we may have to do to avoid 

  4 conflicting with that schedule, I will have you get to 

  5 the end of your-- well, let's move on.  We may b e here 

  6 until 2:00, but we are still going to take a bre ak.  We 

  7 will try to get through this witness without a b reak.

  8 MS. STERLING:  All right.  Thank you very much, 

  9 Your Honor.  

 10 THE COURT:  All right.  You can proceed.

 11 J I LL C.  VOLI N,  M. D. , called as a witness, having 

 12 been first duly sworn, was examined and testifie d as 

 13 follows:

 14 DIRECT EXAMINATION

 15 BY MS. STERLING:

 16 Q. If you would, please state your full name for the 

 17 Court.

 18 A. Dr. Jill C. Volin, V-o-l-i-n.

 19 Q. And how are you employed, Dr. Volin?

 20 A. I'm a staff forensic psychiatrist at FMC Butne r, 

 21 North Carolina.

 22 Q. And how long have you been a staff psychiatris t at 

 23 Butner?

 24 A. Since March of 2012.

 25 Q. And you are licensed to practice medicine; is that 
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  1 correct?

  2 A. Yes.  I have had a full unrestricted license t o 

  3 practice medicine since 2006.

  4 Q. And are you board certified in forensic psychi atry?

  5 A. Yes.  I am double boarded both in psychiatry a nd 

  6 forensic psychiatry.

  7 Q. Okay.  And have you ever testified in court be fore 

  8 as an expert in forensic psychiatry?

  9 A. Yes.  I have been qualified as an expert 12 ti mes in 

 10 forensic psychiatry and three times in psychiatr y.

 11 Q. Thank you, Dr. Volin.

 12         MS. STERLING:  Your Honor, we would offe r 

 13 Government's Exhibit No. 9, which is Dr. Volin's  CV, 

 14 which has been stipulated to.  I would ask she b e found 

 15 to be an expert in forensic psychiatry.

 16 MS. HARRIS:  No objection, Your Honor.

 17 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  The document  

 18 will be admitted.

 19 (Government's Exhibit No. 9 was admitted.)

 20 BY MS. STERLING:

 21 Q. In the course of your employment as a forensic  

 22 psychiatrist at Butner, have you come in contact  with 

 23 Keith Duncan?

 24 A. Yes.  Mr. Duncan was admitted to our facility July 

 25 19th, 2012 for an evaluation of his competency t o stand 
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  1 trial and restoration.  He was discharged Januar y 8th, 

  2 2013, re-admitted February 28th and discharged A pril 

  3 30th.

  4 Q. Are you able to see Mr. Duncan here today?  Is  that 

  5 within your range of view?

  6 A. Yes, I can see Mr. Duncan now.

  7 Q. And if the record could reflect that the witne ss 

  8 identified the defendant, Your Honor.

  9 THE COURT:  The record will so reflect.

 10 BY MS. STERLING:

 11 Q. And what did your evaluation of Mr. Duncan con sist 

 12 of, if you would just describe it briefly?

 13 A. Well, over the course of the last ten months t he 

 14 evaluation consisted of clinical interviews with  

 15 Mr. Duncan, with myself, with Dr. Patole and wit h 

 16 Dr. Marra.  It also consisted of routine physica l 

 17 examination and laboratory studies, an MRI of hi s 

 18 brain.  We also reviewed collateral information provided 

 19 by the defense and the government and his family , and 

 20 the observation of our staff members, our nurses  and our 

 21 correctional officers were also incorporated int o the 

 22 report.

 23 Q. Okay.  And did you personally meet with Mr. Du ncan 

 24 during this period of evaluation?

 25 A. Yes, I did.
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  1 Q. And about how many times?

  2 A. I met with him multiple times a week during Au gust 

  3 of 2012 and July of 2012.

  4 After the report was submitted in August, I met 

  5 with him less often, probably once or twice a we ek.  And 

  6 then when he returned to us again in February, I  met 

  7 with him multiple times a week at the beginning and then 

  8 weekly as we were waiting for the Court to resch edule 

  9 this hearing.

 10 Q. And about how long were your meetings?

 11 A. In the beginning the meetings would last a lon g 

 12 time, an hour or more.  As the course of the eva luation 

 13 continued and we were waiting for the Court to a nswer 

 14 the question of involuntary medication, the meet ings 

 15 were much shorter.  Mr. Duncan was unwilling to take 

 16 medication and his presentation had not changed.   

 17 Multiple meetings resulted in him becoming more 

 18 agitated, which is the reason why those meetings  were 

 19 cut short and held less often.

 20 Q. Has he changed significantly in all of these 

 21 meetings from the time that you first met him un til the 

 22 time of your last meeting?

 23 A. I would say the content of his psychotic delus ions 

 24 has remained the same.  However, there has been some 

 25 variation in levels of mania.  There have been t imes 
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  1 when he has had a very pressured speech, has had  

  2 insomnia and very difficult to redirect as a res ult of 

  3 his mania, and especially his last admission whe n that 

  4 was not as prominent.  So that's how I would bri efly 

  5 describe the change in his mental status.

  6 Q. And in addition to your own meetings and evalu ations 

  7 with Mr. Duncan, did you supervise the work of 

  8 Dr. Patole in her examinations and evaluations?

  9 A. Yes, I did.  I sat in on a small number of her  

 10 interviews with him and the interviews I did not  sit in 

 11 on, I discussed them with her.  I also edited th e 

 12 portions of the report that she wrote.

 13 Q. And you, in fact, prepared two reports with 

 14 Dr. Patole; is that correct?

 15 A. That is correct.

 16 Q. And there was one in September and one in Dece mber; 

 17 is that correct?

 18 A. Yes.  I believe the date of the first report w as 

 19 August 7, 2012, and the second December 12th.

 20 Q. And based on your evaluation with Dr. Patole, based 

 21 on what you received and did with her as well as  your 

 22 own observations and assessments of Mr. Duncan, did you 

 23 formulate an opinion as to whether Mr. Duncan wa s 

 24 suffering from a mental disease or defect?

 25 A. Yes.  It is my opinion that he suffers from a severe 
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  1 psychotic illness called schizoaffective disorde r.

  2 Q. Is that the same diagnosis that Dr. Patole arr ived 

  3 at?

  4 A. I was not present for her testimony, but yes, that's 

  5 the diagnosis we arrived at together, and we put  it in 

  6 our report.

  7 Q. That is the diagnosis that was in the report; is 

  8 that correct?

  9 A. Yes.

 10 Q. Okay.  What caused you to reach this diagnosis ?

 11 A. Schizoaffective disorder is diagnosed when som eone 

 12 meets criteria for criterion A schizophrenia whi le also 

 13 having evidence of previous manic mix or depress ive 

 14 episodes.  

 15 We diagnosed Mr. Duncan with schizoaffective 

 16 disorder bipolar type because over the course of  his 

 17 illness he has had manic and hypomanic episodes,  and the 

 18 reason why we diagnosed him schizoaffective diso rder 

 19 over bipolar disorder is there have been periods  in his 

 20 history and I have also personally witnessed tim es in 

 21 which the psychosis, the delusions, continued wh ile the 

 22 mania is much less prominent.

 23 Q. Okay.  And are you aware of diagnoses made by other 

 24 treating psychiatrists or health professionals w ith 

 25 regard to Mr. Duncan?
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  1 A. Yes.  Most of his previous treating profession als, 

  2 either on an outpatient basis or an inpatient ba sis, 

  3 diagnosed bipolar disorder.  Some people diagnos ed 

  4 bipolar disorder with psychotic features.  In ad dition, 

  5 Dr. Brauman IMPT North also diagnosed bipolar di sorder 

  6 with psychotic features.

  7 Q. How did you come up with the diagnosis that yo u made 

  8 of Mr. Duncan?

  9 A. Well, there are significant overlaps between t hese 

 10 two diagnoses, schizoaffective disorder bipolar type and 

 11 bipolar disorder with psychotic features.  

 12 You diagnose bipolar disorder with psychotic 

 13 features when the psychosis occurs only when the  patient 

 14 is experiencing a severe episode, only when they  are in 

 15 an event with symptoms of depression or in the m idst of 

 16 manic depression; a schizoaffective disorder of bipolar 

 17 type when the psychotic symptoms or, in Mr. Dunc an's 

 18 case, the delusions continue when he is not in a  

 19 prominent mood episode.

 20 Q. Okay.  And you did review the findings of othe r 

 21 psychiatrists and treating physicians in reachin g your 

 22 evaluation and diagnosis; is that correct?

 23 A. Yes.  The mental health diagnoses is important  to 

 24 look at person's history and how that person and  their 

 25 illness progresses over time.  At the time he wa s 
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  1 diagnosed with bipolar disorder with psychotic f eatures 

  2 in Atlanta he was in the midst of a manic episod e.  

  3 Also when he was in New York with Dr. Brauman, 

  4 he was in the midst of a manic episode.  One of the 

  5 advantages of having a four-month or, in this ca se, an 

  6 almost nine-month evaluation is that I get the 

  7 opportunity to review an extensive amount of col lateral, 

  8 interview family and to make these observations myself.

  9 If I had the same information that was presented  

 10 to me as Dr. Brauman did or the treating psychia trist, I 

 11 may have arrived at the same conclusion, bipolar  

 12 disorder with psychotic features; but because I assessed 

 13 more information and more observational data, I think 

 14 that a diagnosis of schizoaffective disorder is more 

 15 accurate.

 16 Q. Okay.  But it is not entirely contrary or 

 17 inconsistent with bipolar disorder with psychoti c 

 18 features; is that correct?

 19 A. No.  Given the information they were privy to,  I saw 

 20 how they came to that conclusion.  I am privy to  more 

 21 information.

 22 Q. Okay.  So what was the basis for your diagnosi s, 

 23 then, of schizoaffective disorder bipolar type?

 24 A. Mr. Duncan has experienced symptoms of mental 

 25 illness in 2008.  At that time he was described as 
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  1 manic.  He was in treatment with an outpatient 

  2 psychiatrist from, I believe, 2008 to 2011.  At that 

  3 time he presented with symptoms of mania and psy chosis.  

  4 He was admitted to Peachford Hospital in Atlanta  in 2009 

  5 with symptoms of mania and psychosis.  Then, of course, 

  6 he was evaluated by Dr. Brauman at the time he p resented 

  7 with symptoms of mania and psychosis.  

  8 I was also able to get collateral information 

  9 from his family, particularly regarding his inst ances of 

 10 mania and his particular delusions, and was able  to get 

 11 information from his son, Kyle, that there are t imes 

 12 when he is not manic, but he still continued hav ing very 

 13 persistent fixed delusions that do not vary over  time.

 14 Q. Would you describe his delusions as bazaar or 

 15 nonbazaar?

 16 A. Most of his delusions are nonbazaar.  He belie ves 

 17 that he is being monitored via technology.  He b elieves 

 18 that people are following him, that people may w ant to 

 19 murder him or his children.

 20 In the past he has exhibited some arguably 

 21 bazaar delusions in that he believes that he was  the 

 22 fourth component of the universe and part of the  Holy 

 23 Trinity, but most of his delusions and the delus ions 

 24 that I have observed have been what we would cla ssify as 

 25 nonbazaar.
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  1 Q. And did you get information from his family 

  2 regarding delusions that they believed he had su ffered 

  3 from or he indicated to them or exhibited in the ir 

  4 presence?

  5 A. Yes.  In particular, the one that I mentioned 

  6 before, he told his wife that he believes he was  part of 

  7 the Holy Trinity, God the Father, Son and Holy G host.  

  8 He believed he was the fourth component of the 

  9 universe.  He believed that a judge in Cobb Coun ty was 

 10 murdered in relation to his knowledge of Robert Rose.  

 11 He believes he is the grandson of Einstein.  The re are 

 12 other examples if you would like.

 13 Q. No, that's fine.  So he has both bazaar and 

 14 nonbazaar delusions.  That's essentially what yo ur 

 15 testimony is; is that correct?

 16 A. You just cut out, I'm sorry.

 17 Q. I'm sorry.  Let me speak more clearly.  He has  both 

 18 bazaar and nonbazaar delusions; is that correct?

 19 A. Yes, nonbazaar for the most part.

 20 Q. When you say nonbazaar, what's the nature of t he 

 21 nonbazaar delusions?

 22 A. It's something that could possibly happen.  Ho wever 

 23 unlikely, it is possible.

 24 Q. And are you familiar with the diagnosis of 

 25 delusional disorder?
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  1 A. I am.

  2 Q. Okay.  And you did not diagnose Mr. Duncan wit h 

  3 delusional disorder; is that correct?

  4 A. That is correct.

  5 Q. And he has never been diagnosed with that diso rder 

  6 based on your review of his records; is that cor rect?

  7 A. That is correct.

  8 Q. And how is delusional disorder different from 

  9 schizoaffective disorder or bipolar or other suc h 

 10 diagnoses that have been made in Mr. Duncan's ca se?

 11 A. Delusional disorder is very rare.  It 's presen t in 

 12 .03 percent of the population.  People who exhib it 

 13 delusional disorder are very functional.  They o ften do 

 14 not come to care because they do not believe tha t 

 15 there's anything wrong with them.  They often do  not 

 16 meet criteria for involuntary commitment because  they 

 17 are so functional.

 18 The diagnostic criteria, according to the DSM, 

 19 require that they have nonbazaar delusions, and it also 

 20 requires that criterion A for schizophrenia has never 

 21 been met.  It also requires that mood episodes h ave 

 22 occurred concurrent with delusions and has been brief in 

 23 duration to the delusional period.  

 24 No mental health professional has diagnosed 

 25 Mr. Duncan with delusional disorder because a di agnosis 
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  1 of delusional disorder would be inaccurate.  You  cannot 

  2 diagnose delusional disorder when criterion A fo r 

  3 schizophrenia has been met.  You cannot diagnose  

  4 delusional disorder when there is a strong reaso n for a 

  5 person's course of il lness.

  6 Q. All right.  What exactly are the symptoms of 

  7 schizophrenia that Mr. Duncan exhibits?

  8 A. Mr. Duncan, his most prominent symptoms are 

  9 delusions, and also he exhibits thought 

 10 disorganization.  His thoughts become tangential , 

 11 circumstantial, disorganized.  So those are the 

 12 criterion A symptoms that Mr. Duncan exhibits.

 13 Q. And what about the symptoms of mania that he 

 14 exhibits?

 15 A. So symptoms of mania would not be criteria for  

 16 schizophrenia, and the reason why we have him di agnosed 

 17 with schizoaffective disorder bipolar type is be cause 

 18 that reflects the combination of both the psycho sis and 

 19 the mood component.

 20 The symptoms of mania that he exhibits, both 

 21 with myself and various times in his history, in clude 

 22 irritability, grandiosity, pressured speech, fli ght of 

 23 ideas, increased polarized activity, distractibi lity, 

 24 insomnia.  He also has exhibited risky behavior in the 

 25 past, including skiing at great speeds.  He's al so done 
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  1 unusual things according to his family as trying  to 

  2 leave a waitress a $1 million tip.

  3 Q. All right.  Thank you, Dr. Volin.  In the repo rt you 

  4 submitted, or the two reports, did you express a n 

  5 opinion as to whether Mr. Duncan is competent to  stand 

  6 trial?

  7 A. Yes, I did.

  8 Q. And what is your opinion?

  9 A. My opinion is that he is not competent to stan d 

 10 trial.

 11 Q. And why is that?

 12 A. Mr. Duncan, because of his delusions, does not  have 

 13 a rational understanding of the consequences of the case 

 14 against him.  He doesn't have a rational underst anding 

 15 of his situation in relation to the proceedings.   He 

 16 believes that various court officials, including  his 

 17 attorney, are involved in a conspiracy with Robe rt 

 18 Rose.  He believes that the federal court does n ot have 

 19 jurisdiction over him, that only a military cour t could 

 20 have jurisdiction over him.  He also believes th at 

 21 various court officials have an influence, even both the 

 22 Atlanta judge who was murdered because of Mr. Du ncan's 

 23 knowledge of Robert Rose.

 24 He also believed that at any point in time the 

 25 FBI is going to come get him and put him in witn ess 
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  1 protection.  He also believes that his arrest wa s not 

  2 valid.

  3 Q. All right.  And in your report did you express  an 

  4 opinion as to whether Mr. Duncan's competence ca n be 

  5 restored?

  6 A. I did.  Mr. Duncan suffers from a psychotic 

  7 disorder, schizoaffective disorder bipolar type.   That 

  8 illness is very treatable with antipsychotic med ication, 

  9 so it's my opinion he can be restored.

 10 Q. Okay.  And is that based on your experience?

 11 A. It is based on countless double-blind placebo 

 12 studies; it is based on his results on medicatio n in the 

 13 past; it is based on studies that have demonstra ted the 

 14 restorability of pretrial witnesses with psychot ic 

 15 illness.

 16 Q. Has Mr. Duncan taken the psychotropic medicati ons 

 17 well at Butner?

 18 A. Briefly he took the medication Risperdal durin g the 

 19 previous evaluation period.  I believe that was probably 

 20 either in mid-July or early August 2012.  In add ition, 

 21 he took one dose of the antipsychotic medication  

 22 Aripiprazole or Abilify when he was most recentl y 

 23 admitted to our facility.

 24 Q. But did treatment with those drugs have any 

 25 noticeable effect?
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  1 A. He took those medications so briefly that it w ould 

  2 be difficult to say what effects he had.  I can tell you 

  3 what he complained of.

  4 Q. That's fine if you want to tell us that, but h e did 

  5 not take the medication long enough to have any 

  6 beneficial effect; would that be correct?

  7 A. That is correct.

  8 Q. Do you have an opinion as to whether Mr. Dunca n can 

  9 be restored to competence without psychotropic 

 10 medications?

 11 A. Yes.  I do not believe he can be restored to 

 12 competence without psychotropic medications.

 13 Q. Why is that, Dr. Volin?

 14 A. Psychotic il lness requires treatment with 

 15 antipsychotic medications.  Talk therapy and oth er 

 16 modalities do not work to attenuate a psychotic 

 17 symptoms.

 18 Therapy such as Harmon behavioral therapy has 

 19 been shown to be beneficial as adjunctive treatm ent to 

 20 antipsychotic medication in that they help the p atient 

 21 work through problems, they help the patient und erstand 

 22 the importance of medication and treatment compl iance, 

 23 but they do not on their own attenuate psychotic  

 24 symptoms.

 25 Q. And do you have an opinion as to whether Mr. D uncan 
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  1 can be administered psychotropic medications ora lly in 

  2 order to restore him to competence?

  3 A. Any method of administration of antipsychotic 

  4 medication would be likely to restore him to com petence, 

  5 whether that be oral or injectable.

  6 Q. Okay.  But in your experience has he been will ing to 

  7 take the medication orally?

  8 A. He has not been willing to take medication ora lly 

  9 after he tried the Aripiprazole for one dose.  S o that 

 10 is not something he's been willing to do.

 11 I'm sorry.  I'm getting a message that says, 

 12 "Scheduled meeting ends in ten minutes.  Please call 

 13 video support."

 14 MS. STERLING:  Thank you very much, Dr. Volin.  

 15 We will take care of that.

 16 Are we okay?

 17 THE COURT:  Yes.

 18 MS. STERLING:  Okay.  Thank you.

 19 BY MS. STERLING:

 20 Q. Now, the report that you prepared with Dr. Pat ole, 

 21 that outlined a treatment plan for Mr. Duncan as  far as 

 22 medication; is that correct?

 23 A. That's correct.

 24 Q. And without going into all of the details of t he 

 25 treatment plan, did you prepare that with Dr. Pa tole, or 
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  1 is it something you prepared together, or did sh e 

  2 prepare it and you reviewed it?  How was that 

  3 accomplished?

  4 A. The medical analysis Sell section of the report was 

  5 written by me.  She has read it and reviewed it and may 

  6 have added some to it, but the Sell section which begins 

  7 on page 20.

  8 Q. And so that would include the treatment plan, 

  9 correct?

 10 A. Yes.

 11 Q. Okay.  And you said the treatment plan that yo u 

 12 outlined gives a step-by-step procedure for medi cating 

 13 Mr. Duncan; is that correct?

 14 A. That's correct.

 15 Q. And there's a procedure to be followed if he r efuses 

 16 to take oral medication or initially agrees and then 

 17 decides not to cooperate; is that correct?

 18 A. That's correct.

 19 Q. And should he be involuntarily medicated, the Court 

 20 indicates a plan for that process including vari ous 

 21 medications that would be used or could be used in order 

 22 of preference; is that correct?

 23 A. That's correct.

 24 Q. And that treatment plan for each of these 

 25 medications, specifically for Haldol, Fluphenazi ne-- I 
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  1 may be mispronouncing it --and Risperdal, gives detailed 

  2 information about dosage, about the frequency of  dosage 

  3 and the likelihood that medication will be requi red 

  4 before he was restored to competence; is that co rrect?

  5 A. That's correct.

  6 Q. And does the plan also take into account the 

  7 possible side effects of each of these medicatio ns?

  8 A. Yes, it does.

  9 Q. And it also provides a plan or a method of dea ling 

 10 with those side effects; is that correct?

 11 A. Yes, it does.

 12 Q. Just very briefly on the side effects, there a re two 

 13 types of medications that you mentioned there, H aldol 

 14 and-- help me with the pronunciation --Fluphenaz ine.  

 15 Those are first generation psychotropic medicati ons, are 

 16 they not?

 17 A. I'm having trouble understanding you.  Did you  ask 

 18 me if Haldol and Fluphenazine are first generati on 

 19 medications?

 20 Q. Yes.

 21 A. They are.  

 22 Q. Okay.  And the Risperidone, the Risperdal, is second 

 23 generation; is that correct?  

 24 A. That is correct.

 25 Q. There are slightly different side effects for the 
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  1 first generation and second generation of drugs;  is that 

  2 correct?  

  3 A. When looked at as a higher class, then the sid e 

  4 effects do differ.  However, Risperidone in part icular 

  5 does have a similar side effect profile to Halop eridol.  

  6 I can go into more detail about it if you like.

  7 MS. STERLING:  Your Honor, at this point I can 

  8 ask her more questions.  I believe we have gone through 

  9 this a lot with the last witness.  I also don't know when 

 10 the Court wants to take a break.

 11 THE COURT:  What the Court is going to try to do  

 12 is try to let you finish your direct exam or we are going 

 13 to try to see if we can finish the witness.  I d on't know 

 14 whether we can make it, but we are going to try.

 15 MS. STERLING:  Okay.  We are going to try.

 16 BY MS. STERLING: 

 17 Q. If you could, Dr. Volin, tell us very briefly about 

 18 the side effects of the various medications and the 

 19 methods outlined in the treatment plan for deali ng with 

 20 those side effects.

 21 A. Okay.  Firstly, if the Court were to grant 

 22 involuntary medication, the first thing that wou ld 

 23 happen-- and let me clarify.  It is very likely that I 

 24 will not be the person administering his medicat ions, so 

 25 I am going to advocate to the Court on what I wo uld do 
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  1 if I was the person prescribing it and also what  the 

  2 standard of care both in the community and our 

  3 institution would be.  

  4 So if the Court were to grant prescribing 

  5 involuntary medication, the first thing that wou ld 

  6 happen is that order would be discussed with him .  It 

  7 would be explained to Mr. Duncan that if he did not 

  8 choose the medication orally, that an injectable  

  9 medication would be chosen for him.

 10 It is very often in that situation, even with 

 11 patients who have refused oral medications in th e past, 

 12 that when they know an injectable medication wil l be 

 13 administered on refusal that they do take the ti me to 

 14 choose an oral medication.  So the first thing t hat would 

 15 happen is he would be offered the choice of the various 

 16 formulary antipsychotic oral medications, and th eir risk 

 17 and benefits and various side effect profiles wo uld be 

 18 discussed with him.

 19 That being said, we can look at the psychotic 

 20 medication as first generation or second generat ion or 

 21 the individual antipsychotic medications themsel ves.  For 

 22 example, the medication he's been on in the past , Abilify 

 23 or Aripiprazole has a very favorable side effect  profile 

 24 and is often chosen for that reason.

 25 If you look at sedation, sedation with Abilify 
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  1 has been reported at about 6 percent, whereas se dation on 

  2 Risperdal has been recorded at 5 to 11 percent.  So those 

  3 are comparables depending on which studies you l ook at.

  4 If you look at extrapyramidal symptoms, and 

  5 these are the movement side effects of antipsych otic 

  6 medications, Parkinsonism, I have heard, is abou t 18 to 

  7 25 percent and Risperidone where it occurs about  5 to 16 

  8 percent in Abilify.  We know that those rates of  

  9 extrapyramidal symptoms are higher in the first 

 10 generation, particularly the high potency first 

 11 generation of which Haldol and Fluphenazine are a 

 12 member.  

 13 So the rates of extrapyramidal symptoms in 

 14 Haloperidol and Fluphenazine would be higher, 21  to 31 

 15 percent as opposed to the slightly lower rates o f 

 16 Risperidone and even lower of Abilify.

 17 Another important point to bring up, and I'm 

 18 only going to go through them briefly, so please  tell me 

 19 if you want more details.  The metabolic side ef fects as 

 20 a whole are more of a concern with the second ge neration 

 21 than with the first, the metabolic side effects being 

 22 weight gain, blood sugar abnormalities and chole sterol 

 23 abnormalities.  So these would be more of concer n 

 24 particularly with Risperidone than they would be  in the 

 25 first generation or in Aripiprazole.  Abilify or  
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  1 Aripiprazole has very low rates of metabolic syn drome.

  2 Are there any other side effects you would like 

  3 me to go into in more detail?

  4 Q. Could you just briefly address the severe side  

  5 effects that were listed in the report, the sudd en death 

  6 and the-- I'm sorry, there was another one.

  7 A. So all medication has potential side effects, and 

  8 what I'm about to discuss is the potentially dan gerous 

  9 side affects of antipsychotic medications.  Plea se note 

 10 that these have been approved as safe by the Fed eral 

 11 Drug Administration and are prescribed everyday as an 

 12 outpatient to patients all over the world.

 13 We have the luxury of being a joint commission 

 14 certified hospital with 24-hour nursing and 24-h our 

 15 doctor care.  The reason why I say that is becau se we 

 16 are a hospital where we can monitor for these ve ry rare 

 17 but possible dangerous side effects.

 18 The ones I would like to discuss are neuroleptic  

 19 malignant syndrome.  The rate of neuroleptic mal ignant 

 20 syndrome, depending on how it's assigned, are .7 22 

 21 percent of those who take antipsychotic medicati ons.  

 22 This also occurs in patients who are coming off of 

 23 Parkinsonism medication and patients who take me dication 

 24 for vomiting.

 25 The reason why we are so hypervigilant about 
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  1 looking for neuroleptic malignant syndrome is be cause it 

  2 can have dangerous and possibly lethal effects.  The 

  3 symptoms we look for are muscular rigidity, Meto nia, 

  4 high fever, increased blood pressure and heart r ate, and 

  5 lack of movement.

  6 Antipsychotics also can cause abnormal heart 

  7 rhythms.  It is much more prominent in certain 

  8 antipsychotic medications than others such as Me llaril 

  9 and Gson.

 10 As the antipsychotic medication causes an 

 11 arrhythmia of the heart, that can in theory lead  to what 

 12 is called sudden death.  Now, sudden death occur s both 

 13 in the general healthy population and in patient s who 

 14 are on antipsychotic medication.  It is a very, very 

 15 rare event.

 16 The reason why we think it's important is 

 17 because you take something extremely rare and wi th 

 18 antipsychotic medication it is stil l extremely r are, but 

 19 there is a specifically significant increase in the 

 20 risk.

 21 The reason why we think that patients, 

 22 particularly with schizophrenia, have still part icularly 

 23 small but a higher rate than the general populat ion of 

 24 sudden death is because this is a population-- n ot only 

 25 are they taking antipsychotic medication, but th ey also 

SHARON B. BORDEN, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER

110

Case 4:11-cr-00112-RAJ-LRL   Document 57   Filed 08/28/19   Page 110 of 149 PageID# 442



J. Volin, M.D. - Direct

  1 have much higher rates of smoking and much less medical 

  2 care and also higher rates of obesity.

  3 So the potentially dangerous side effects we 

  4 look at, once again, are neuroleptic malignant s yndrome 

  5 and also abnormalities of cardiac conjunction or  sudden 

  6 death.  Either of those are both incredibly rare  events 

  7 and something that here we have the luxury to mo nitor 24 

  8 hours a day.

  9 Q. Thank you, Dr. Volin.  

 10 The treatment outlines for nonvoluntary 

 11 medication, injectable medication, it outlines t hree 

 12 medications in order of preference; is that corr ect?

 13 A. Yes.  Let me explain that these are all equall y 

 14 efficacious medications.  That order that you ar e 

 15 calling an order of preference is based on very small 

 16 factors such that Haloperidol, the reason why it  was 

 17 listed first is not because it's a better medica tion or 

 18 its ratification, it's because it only needs to be 

 19 administered once a month and the onset is fairl y 

 20 quick.  

 21 Fluphenazine is listed as second because the 

 22 onset is very quick, but it 's administered every  two 

 23 weeks.  

 24 And then Risperidone listed third not because 

 25 it's the worse medication or less efficacious, b ut 
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  1 because the onset, particularly for Risperidone,  is much 

  2 longer because of the formulation of the medicat ion and 

  3 it also has to be administered every two weeks.

  4 Q. If the Court were to grant the government's mo tion 

  5 to involuntary medicate, would the staff at Butn er, 

  6 which you indicated would probably not be you, w ould the 

  7 doctors and psychiatrists use them in that order  or 

  8 would they use those three medications or could they 

  9 change their recommendation and use different 

 10 medications?

 11 A. There are only three currently available long- acting 

 12 injectable medications on formulary.  There are various 

 13 factors that could lead a professional to rank s omething 

 14 higher than another.  For example, the injectabl e 

 15 immediate release Fluphenazine has been difficul t to 

 16 obtain.  Therefore, Fluphenazine could be in the  third 

 17 box, whereas Risperdal possibly would be in the second 

 18 because of the availability of medication.

 19 I can't predict certain things like that right 

 20 now, which is why when we submit very detailed t reatment 

 21 plans it doesn't necessarily take into account r eal 

 22 world variables that we have to take into accoun t as 

 23 doctors.

 24 In addition, even if Mr. Duncan were not to 

 25 choose an oral medication, if he were to choose one of 
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  1 the three injectables, the doctor would most lik ely go 

  2 with his choice.  I know I would go with his cho ice, 

  3 even if it did not meet my order.  If he chose t hat one, 

  4 that would be the one I would go with.

  5 Q. So you listed the three injectable psychotropi c 

  6 medications because those are the only three tha t are 

  7 injectable; is that correct?

  8 A. I didn't hear you, I'm sorry.

  9 Q. I'm sorry.  The three medications you have lis ted 

 10 are the three that are injectable.  There would not be a 

 11 choice for another medication because there is n o other 

 12 psychotropic medication that's injectable; is th at 

 13 correct?

 14 A. The three long-acting injectables are the ones  that 

 15 I listed.  There are other antipsychotic medicat ions 

 16 available as injectables.  They are currently no t on the 

 17 Bureau formulary.  That can change.

 18 Q. Okay.  So as far as the treatment plan that yo u have 

 19 outlined with the various side effects, that wou ld apply 

 20 to another psychiatrist treating Mr. Duncan beca use 

 21 those are the only three medications that could be used 

 22 at Butner?

 23 A. Yes.

 24 Q. All right.  Thank you.

 25 Dr. Volin, you indicated that you in the latest 

SHARON B. BORDEN, OFFICIAL COURT REPORTER

113

Case 4:11-cr-00112-RAJ-LRL   Document 57   Filed 08/28/19   Page 113 of 149 PageID# 445



J. Volin, M.D. - Direct

  1 report, the December 2012, performed the Sell analysis; 

  2 is that correct?

  3 A. I didn't hear you.  If you are asking if I wro te 

  4 that, that is correct.

  5 Q. Okay.  The Sell analysis, I want to direct your 

  6 attention to that portion of the report.  

  7 The report indicates that-- the first question 

  8 under Sell is whether there was an important government 

  9 interest at stake.  That's obviously a legal que stion we 

 10 are not going to address with you, but I want to  go to 

 11 the analysis on the other four Sell factors and if you 

 12 need to, you can make reference to your report.

 13 A. Okay.

 14 Q. Okay.  As to the second Sell factor, the question 

 15 being whether involuntary medication will signif icantly 

 16 further those interests, the question for you as  the 

 17 treating psychiatrist is whether the medications  will 

 18 substantially likely render the defendant compet ent to 

 19 stand trial and be unlikely to have side effects  that 

 20 will interfere with his ability to assist counse l?  

 21 So as to the first of that two-part criteria, in  

 22 your opinion does the treatment plan for involun tarily 

 23 medicating the defendant, is it substantially li kely to 

 24 restore the defendant's competence to stand tria l?

 25 A. Yes.
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  1 Q. Okay.  And can you tell us what the basis of y our 

  2 opinion is?

  3 A. Mr. Duncan suffers from a psychotic disorder, 

  4 schizoaffective disorder.  The appropriate first -line 

  5 treatment for that il lness is antipsychotic medi cation.  

  6 Countless peer review sublime placebo trials hav e 

  7 indicated the effectiveness of antipsychotic 

  8 medication.  

  9 Studies have also shown the restorability of 

 10 patients to trial when administered involuntary 

 11 medication.  Particularly in his population, fed eral 

 12 pretrial defendants have been restored to compet ency 

 13 after an order for involuntary medication has be en 

 14 rendered by the Court, and also Mr. Duncan has a  history 

 15 responding well to antipsychotic medication acco rding to 

 16 the Peachford hospitalization records where he w as 

 17 admitted to inpatient service from March 28th to  April 

 18 4th 2009.

 19 On admission he was, quote, floridly manic, very  

 20 paranoid, delusional and grandiose, and just eig ht days 

 21 later he was discharged from the inpatient 

 22 hospitalization to a partial hospitalization pro gram.

 23 At the time of his discharge the doctor noted he  

 24 exhibited greater insight into his il lness and h is sleep 

 25 improved.  He remained hypomanic, so without ful l-blown 
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  1 mania.  His paranoid delusions regarding his wif e also 

  2 improved.  He no longer thought she was trying t o kill 

  3 him but did believe she wanted to financially ha rm him.  

  4 So that is a very good example of how his senses  

  5 attenuated after just eight days of medication.

  6 Q. Do you have an opinion whether he could be res tored 

  7 to competency without the use of these psychotro pic 

  8 medications?

  9 A. There was a radio call while you were speaking , so I 

 10 missed what you were saying.

 11 Q. Oh, I'm sorry.  Do you have an opinion as to w hether 

 12 he could be restored to competence without the 

 13 psychotropic medications?

 14 A. Yes.  Without psychotropic medication I do not  

 15 believe he can be restored to competence.

 16 Q. And do the psychotropic medications outlined i n the 

 17 report, and specifically the treatment plan, hav e side 

 18 effects that are likely to interfere with the 

 19 defendant's ability to assist counsel at trial?  Do you 

 20 have an opinion as to that?

 21 A. I do.  Antipsychotic medications actually impr ove 

 22 cognition.  They particularly improve attention and 

 23 thought organization, so those should be expecte d to 

 24 assist him at trial.  There is a possibility of sedation 

 25 with antipsychotic medication.  
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  1 As I stated before, 6 percent of patients 

  2 reported fatigue on Aripiprazole or Abilify whil e 11 

  3 percent of patients reported sedation on Risperi done.  

  4 Sedation as a side effect is very easily managed .  It is 

  5 managed by moving the medication to nighttime.  It is 

  6 also managed by decreasing the dosage of the 

  7 medication.  And if sedation does not improve wi th those 

  8 very simple fixes, a new medication can be chose n.  But 

  9 like I said, with a particular medication we are  talking 

 10 about, it does occur in less than 20 percent of people 

 11 and it's easily managed.

 12 Q. Are you aware of any side effects from psychot ropic 

 13 medications that Mr. Duncan has specifically com plained 

 14 of that would interfere with his ability to assi st 

 15 counsel at trial?

 16 A. No.

 17 Q. In your opinion, Dr. Volin, are there any 

 18 alternative less intrusive involuntary medicatio ns that 

 19 would have a substantial likelihood of restoring  the 

 20 defendant's competence?

 21 A. I do not believe there are any less intrusive 

 22 alternatives that would restore him to competenc e 

 23 without psychotropic medications.

 24 Q. Have you considered any other alternatives?

 25 A. Of course we consider with all of our patients  
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  1 whether or not other modalities might be accepte d.  

  2 However, it is widely accepted that psychotic sy mptoms 

  3 require antipsychotic medication.  That does not  say 

  4 there's no use for talk therapy.  It's just that  we do 

  5 not expect him to engage in therapy when he does  not 

  6 believe that there is anything wrong with him.  

  7 Also, just as he cannot engage with attorneys, 

  8 just as he has derailed on additional topics, he  would 

  9 do the same in therapy.  So it's something that he would 

 10 definitely have from the beginning and require 

 11 medication.

 12 Q. So would it be your opinion, then, under the t hird 

 13 criteria of Sell that a voluntary medication, should 

 14 Mr. Duncan agree to take the medication, would b e 

 15 necessary to further the Government's interest i n 

 16 proceeding to trial in this matter?

 17 A. Yes, that's correct.

 18 Q. Finally, do you have an opinion as to whether the 

 19 voluntary medication, the medications recommende d in the 

 20 treatment plan, are in the defendant's best inte rest in 

 21 light of his medical condition?

 22 A. I do.  Regardless of his legal proceedings, I 

 23 recommend that he take antipsychotic medication for 

 24 proper treatment of his il lness.

 25 Q. Okay.  And have you considered other medical i ssues 
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  1 that he has and how the medication might interac t with 

  2 his conditions or the medication for those condi tions?

  3 A. Yes.  Mr. Duncan has reported preexisting rest less 

  4 leg syndrome.  Because of the nature of the 

  5 antipsychotic medication, it can worsen restless  leg 

  6 syndrome.  So if that were the case, that he wer e 

  7 experiencing those symptoms, I would prescribe, or 

  8 whoever was assigned as his psychiatrist would 

  9 prescribe, medication to treat that condition.

 10 Q. Again, your report details the potential side 

 11 effects, long term and short term, their likelih ood and 

 12 how they would be dealt with; is that correct?

 13 A. That's correct.

 14 Q. And what, if anything, can you say about the 

 15 likelihood for his future medication, whether me dication 

 16 in this point would increase, decrease, or have any 

 17 effect on his future ability or desire to take 

 18 medication for his condition?

 19 Do you understand my question?

 20 A. Are you asking if taking medication would incr ease 

 21 his desire to take medication?

 22 Q. Future likelihood of voluntarily seeking medic ation?

 23 MS. HARRIS:  We object, Your Honor.  

 24 Speculation.

 25 THE COURT:  Sustained.
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  1 BY MS. STERLING:

  2 Q. Now, you indicated if the government's motion is 

  3 granted today, the treatment plan you have outli ned is 

  4 what will be used for the framework for medicati ng 

  5 Mr. Duncan; is that correct?

  6 A. That's correct.

  7 Q. Do you know whether Mr. Duncan has been evalua ted 

  8 for involuntary medication under the criteria se t forth 

  9 in Harper?  Has he attended any Harper hearings?

 10 A. Yes, he has.

 11 Q. And when did that occur?

 12 A. March 7th, 2013.

 13 Q. All right.  So a report was prepared; is that 

 14 correct?  A report was prepared?

 15 A. A memo was.

 16 Q. Okay.

 17 A. A memo was written by myself to the chief 

 18 psychiatrist, and she prepared a report.

 19 Q. Thank you.  And what exactly is a Harper hearing?

 20 A. Washington v. Harper allows an institution such as 

 21 prisons to involuntarily medicate inmates in cas e of 

 22 dangerousness to self or others or grave disabil ities, 

 23 and that requires that the inmate or the patient  be 

 24 dangerous within confinement.  So that could be within a 

 25 locked single cell.  
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  1 So to rise to the level of dangerousness in that  

  2 situation some examples that would rise to that level 

  3 would include a diabetic who refuses to take ins ulin 

  4 because he is paranoid and believes insulin coul d be 

  5 poison and his blood sugar rises to a dangerous level 

  6 that could impact his life.

  7 Another example would be an inmate or patient 

  8 who refuses food, who loses a significant amount  of 

  9 weight that creates electrolyte imbalance or inn er organ 

 10 damage.

 11 Another example would be a patient actively 

 12 trying to kill himself because of psychotic delu sions.

 13 Another example would be physically attacking a 

 14 staff member, even within that confined cell.  

 15 So those are the type of situations that we look  

 16 at that would satisfy grave disability or danger  to self 

 17 or others within confinement to involuntarily me dicate 

 18 under Harper.

 19 Q. And the finding in Mr. Duncan's case was what?

 20 A. The finding was that he did not meet Harper 

 21 criteria.

 22 Q. And in fact, when you prepared the report for this 

 23 Court, you indicated to the Court that you did n ot think 

 24 that he met the Harper criteria for involuntary 

 25 medication; is that correct?
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  1 A. That's correct.

  2 Q. Now, in the event the Court did not grant the 

  3 Government's motion today and the defendant was not to 

  4 be involuntarily medicated, are you familiar wit h the 

  5 procedures under 18 U.S.C. 4246, the evaluation that 

  6 would be conducted subsequent to the proceedings  today?

  7 A. Yes, I am.

  8 Q. Tell us what that hearing is and how that is 

  9 different from what we are doing here today and what 

 10 occurred in Harper?

 11 A. The factors that we look at in Harper and the 4246 

 12 are different than what you look at in Washington v. 

 13 Harper.  Washington v. Harper, l ike I said, is 

 14 dangerousness to self or others or break in seni lity 

 15 within confinement.  

 16 In 4246 we look at whether or not someone would 

 17 be dangerous to persons or property if released because 

 18 of a mental il lness.

 19 So that evaluation is very different.  You take 

 20 a very detailed history, especially in the area of 

 21 history of violence, mental il lness and treatmen t 

 22 compliance, substance abuse, history of weapon u se, 

 23 social support and institutional adjustment.  Yo u also 

 24 review what is called an HCR-20.  That is a meas urement, 

 25 an assessment tool to try to judge someone's ris k of 
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  1 dangerousness in the community.  

  2 All of this information is presented to a risk 

  3 panel that consists of the evaluator who present s the 

  4 information, the patient, and also the chief 

  5 psychiatrist and the deputy chief psychologist.  That 

  6 risk panel then makes recommendations to the eva luator 

  7 to determine whether or not that person meets th e 

  8 criteria for 4246.

  9 Q. Okay.  And what is 4246?  You said meets the 

 10 criteria.  What exactly is 4246?

 11 A. Okay.  That is, does the individual because of  

 12 mental illness pose a risk of danger to others o r the 

 13 property of others if released?  

 14 Q. And if he does pose such a risk, it would requ ire 

 15 hospitalization; is that correct?

 16 A. Please repeat?

 17 Q. I'm sorry.  Does it not provide that the perso n, the 

 18 individual in question, if they do pose a risk p ursuant 

 19 to those factors under 4246, would be hospitaliz ed 

 20 rather than released?  Is that correct?

 21 A. Committed within the federal system.  But also  

 22 there's one step after the evaluator and the ris k panel 

 23 render their opinion.  You do have to appear bef ore a 

 24 judge, and the judge makes the final determinati on.

 25 Q. Okay.  And that type of hearing would occur af ter 
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  1 the proceeding we are involved in today, after a  Sell 

  2 hearing, is that correct, or could occur?

  3 A. Yes.  It would have to be requested.

  4 Q. Okay.  So we haven't had that hearing and you don't 

  5 have any opinion as to what would likely happen under 

  6 4246, is that correct, that hearing?

  7 A. That's correct, I do not have an opinion on th at.

  8 Q. All right.  One final question, Dr. Volin.  Do  any 

  9 of the findings, opinions or recommendations con tained 

 10 in the reports filed with the Court that you pre pared 

 11 with Dr. Patole, the September and December repo rts, has 

 12 anything changed since the time you filed those reports?

 13 A. Well, like I said before, his last time he was  here 

 14 he was less manic than on other interviews.  The  only 

 15 other change is in the Sell section I had mentioned that 

 16 because I had personally witnessed him taking a dose of 

 17 Risperdal, that him having to take a dose of Ris perdal 

 18 as a test dose would not be necessary.  But so m uch time 

 19 has passed that I think his next treating psychi atrist 

 20 would consider whether or not another test dose needed 

 21 to happen.  That would be their clinical judgmen t and 

 22 their clinical opinion.  

 23 One thing they would likely look at is has our 

 24 formulation of Risperidone changed?  Are we usin g a 

 25 different manufacturer since he last took it?  S o that 
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  1 would be the only thing that I would mention as a 

  2 possible difference were he to come back.

  3 MS. STERLING:  Okay.  Thank you, Dr. Volin.

  4 THE COURT:  Cross?  

  5 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

  6 BY MS. HARRIS:

  7 Q. Good afternoon, Dr. Volin?

  8 A. Good afternoon.

  9 Q. Mr. Duncan is not dangerous, according to the Harper 

 10 hearing, correct?

 11 A. He does not meet Harper criterion, that is correct.

 12 Q. And he's never had any type of physical 

 13 confrontation or altercation at Butner, correct?

 14 A. That is correct.

 15 Q. Except for the prescription medication and his  

 16 noncompliance with prescribed medication, he com plies 

 17 with everyone else's orders and requests; isn't that 

 18 true?

 19 A. That's correct.

 20 Q. And I want to ask you about this diagnosis.  Y ou and 

 21 Dr. Patole arrived at the diagnosis together?

 22 A. That's correct.

 23 Q. And you said it was based on several different  

 24 things, including clinical interviews by you and  

 25 Dr. Patole?
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  1 A. That's correct.

  2 Q. And that there were variations in his level of  

  3 mania?

  4 A. Yes.  So, I can explain that further if you li ke.

  5 Q. Well, that's what you testified to on direct, right, 

  6 you said that sometimes he exhibited pressured s peech, 

  7 insomnia and he was difficult to redirect?

  8 A. Yes.  For most of the summer and fall of 2012 he was 

  9 manic or hypomanic.

 10 Q. Okay.  Now, one of the things that you mention ed on 

 11 direct was that you had extensive collateral inf ormation 

 12 that allowed you to make this diagnosis of 

 13 schizoaffective disorder?

 14 A. That's correct.

 15 Q. You actually reached-- you and Dr. Patole actu ally 

 16 reached that diagnosis after only two months of 

 17 observing Mr. Duncan, right?

 18 A. Yes.  We had that observational data; we had 

 19 information from his family, particularly from h is 

 20 ex-wife and his son Kyle; we had the information  from 

 21 Dr. Hege.  We also had Dr. Brauman's evaluation.   We had 

 22 discovery information.

 23 Q. All of that except for your observations at Bu tner, 

 24 those had been available to Dr. Brauman at the B ureau of 

 25 Prisons facility in New York; isn't that true?
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  1 A. If you look at Dr. Brauman's report, she did n ot 

  2 have access to-- give me one second and I will f ind it.

  3 Q. Okay.

  4 A. So she had records from a Dr. Westerman, who i s a 

  5 police doctor, and a Dr. Schwartz, an endocrinol ogist.  

  6 If I am correct, she did not have the records fr om 

  7 Dr. Hege and did not have the records from Peach ford, 

  8 she did not interview his family.

  9 Q. Excuse me for just one moment.

 10 A. I'm sorry, Ms. Harris.  I didn't hear you.  

 11 Q. Didn't Dr. Brauman have the Dr. Hege-- I'm sor ry, 

 12 I'm looking for the page in the report --Dr. Heg e's 

 13 records?

 14 A. I do not see it listed on page 2 of her report .

 15 Q. Thank you, Dr. Volin.  I may have to come back  to 

 16 that in a minute.  I don't want to take up our t ime now 

 17 on that point.

 18 With respect to this diagnosis, to have 

 19 schizoaffective disorder Mr. Duncan would have h ad to 

 20 have had previous manic depressive mood disorder  symptoms 

 21 as well as concurrent schizophrenia criterion A symptoms, 

 22 right?

 23 A. Yes.  It requires, I believe-- let me get the DSM 

 24 out.

 25 Okay.  Schizoaffective disorder requires either 
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  1 a major depressive episode, a manic episode, or a mixed 

  2 episode concurrent within the criterion A for 

  3 schizophrenia and does not require multiple epis odes.

  4 Q. It's possible, Dr. Volin, for an individual to  have 

  5 two different mental health diagnoses; isn't tha t true?

  6 A. Yes, of course.

  7 Q. Okay.  And so I understand that you don't agre e that 

  8 Mr. Duncan would correctly be diagnosed with del usional 

  9 disorder based on your interviews and your analy sis, 

 10 right?

 11 A. I am unaware of anyone ever diagnosing Mr. Dun can 

 12 with delusional disorder.

 13 Q. Okay.  My next question is, isn't it possible for 

 14 someone to have delusional disorder as well as b ipolar 

 15 disorder at the same time?

 16 A. So, delusional disorder requires, according to  the 

 17 DSM, that if mood episodes have occurred concurr ently 

 18 with delusions, their total duration has been br ief 

 19 relative to the duration of his delusional perio d. 

 20 Therefore, someone who has had criteria for a ma jor mood 

 21 disorder such as bipolar disorder, it would be i mproper 

 22 to diagnose simultaneous delusional disorder bec ause of 

 23 the DSM criteria.

 24 Q. So if I understand you correctly, if you have 

 25 delusions and mood components, then this diagnos is takes 
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  1 into account both of them?

  2 A. Okay.  What I'm saying is if you follow the DS M, 

  3 which is what we try to do in my profession, cri terion 

  4 D, a delusional mood disorder, mood episodes hav e a part 

  5 and partly with delusions.  Their total delusion s have 

  6 been brief compared to the total duration of the  

  7 delusional period.  

  8 So if you look at Mr. Duncan in particular, his 

  9 mood symptoms have been prominent since 2008.

 10 Q. Dr. Volin, the antipsychotics that you think w ill 

 11 treat the schizoaffective disorder in Mr. Duncan , they 

 12 will mostly address his mood symptoms, correct, the 

 13 disorganized speech-- I'm sorry, the manic sympt oms?

 14 A. So, antipsychotic medication are effective bot h in 

 15 the treatment of psychosis and the mania.  Antip sychotic 

 16 medications are the first-line treatment for psy chotic 

 17 illness.  Some of the antipsychotic medications have 

 18 also been approved as modern therapy for treatme nt of 

 19 mania.  So the antipsychotic medications treat b oth.

 20 Q. These delusions that Mr. Duncan has, you have 

 21 classified them as mostly nonbazaar?

 22 A. Yes.  The delusions that he has exhibited in 

 23 clinical interviews with me have been nonbazaar.

 24 Q. And you have been working with him since July of 

 25 last year, correct?
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  1 A. That is correct.

  2 Q. We are saying that they are nonbazaar because they 

  3 are grounded in reality in things that actually happened 

  4 to him and real people who exist, right?

  5 A. By definition, a delusion is a break with real ity.  

  6 We classify bazaar versus nonbazaar when it is p ossible 

  7 that this thing could happen.  Someone may belie ve he is 

  8 being conspired against and followed by the FBI that is 

  9 not necessarily grounded in reality.  So a delus ion is a 

 10 break with reality.  However, if it could possib ly 

 11 happen in real life, we classify it as nonbazaar .

 12 Q. Okay.  So Mr. Duncan's beliefs, you are saying , are 

 13 not grounded in reality, but they are possible?

 14 A. Yes.  They are both not grounded in reality an d 

 15 possible.

 16 Q. This is the main thing that you are saying is 

 17 interfering with his ability to be competent; is n't that 

 18 correct?

 19 A. His focus on these delusions to the exclusion of 

 20 everything else is directly related to his incom petence.

 21 Q. Isn't it true, Dr. Volin, that these thoughts and 

 22 beliefs are never going to stop bothering or hau nting 

 23 Mr. Duncan?

 24 A. That is not true.  Delusions are a treatable 

 25 component of a psychotic il lness.
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  1 Q. Even if they are not bazaar?

  2 A. Yes, absolutely.  Delusions are a treatable 

  3 component of a psychotic il lness.

  4 Q. When he was treated at Charter Peachford and 

  5 Dr. Hege on antipsychotics he continued to have 

  6 delusions, these particular delusions; isn't tha t true?

  7 A. That's a mischaracterization of the record fro m the 

  8 2009 hospitalization.

  9 If I can quote you directly from it, his 

 10 delusions in particular improved.  Let me just f ind it 

 11 real quick.

 12 Okay.  "At the time of discharge he exhibited 

 13 greater insight into his il lness and seemed to i mprove.  

 14 He remained hypomanic but without full-fledged m ania.  

 15 His paranoid delusions concerning his wife also 

 16 improved.  He no longer thought she was trying t o kill 

 17 him but did believe she wanted to financially ha rm 

 18 him."  The delusions improved.

 19 Q. And he continued to be hypomanic, which means that 

 20 he was exhibiting symptoms of mania, correct?  

 21 A. Hypomanic is not full-fledged mania.  Hypomani a is 

 22 an attenuated version of mania, in effect.

 23 Q. It could be referred to as a baby mania or not  as 

 24 bad as maybe full-blown mania, correct?

 25 A. Yes.
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  1 Q. Okay.  But it 's still characterized by some 

  2 disorganized thoughts, impulsive behaviors and 

  3 uninterruptable speech?

  4 A. I can tell you exactly what he was at that tim e if 

  5 that's helpful.

  6 Okay.  "On April 4th, 2009, the day he was 

  7 discharged--" I'm reading directly from Peachfor d 

  8 Behavioral Health in Atlanta discharge summary. "April 

  9 4th, patient not in denial of his illness, sleep ing 

 10 better, but stil l with hypomanic symptoms but no  

 11 full-blown mania.  He was denying hallucinations . 

 12 Denying suicidal or homicidal ideations.  Family --" 

 13 Q. Could you slow down a little bit, please?

 14 A. I'm reading from the Peachford Health System 

 15 discharge summary, the date he was discharged fr om 

 16 inpatient April 4th.  "Patient not in denial of his 

 17 illness.  Sleeping better, but stil l with hypoma nic 

 18 symptoms but no full-blown mania.  He was denyin g 

 19 hallucinations, denying suicidal or homicidal 

 20 ideations.  

 21 "Family section:  With son, Kyle, and sister, 

 22 Katie.  His brother died.  Katie is in Maine.  H is 

 23 brother is in North Carolina.  Family told Katie  that he 

 24 has been in denial of his illness for over a yea r now 

 25 and they want him to accept his illness, also ta ke his 
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  1 medications.  Patient is stil l hypomanic.  No lo nger 

  2 "believes that his wife wants to physically harm  him.  

  3 Now says she wants to financially harm him.  Pat ient is 

  4 willing to start PHT on April 5th."  So they did  not 

  5 specifically discuss his particular hypomanic sy mptoms 

  6 at that time."

  7 Q. But that discharge summary does note twice tha t he 

  8 was still hypomanic, right?

  9 A. I don't know if it-- certainly in the section I read 

 10 he was hypomanic.

 11 Q. His delusions were better, but they still pers isted 

 12 to some degree?

 13 A. So the particular delusion that necessitated h is 

 14 admission that he believed his wife wanted to ki ll him, 

 15 that had resolved.  He believed she wanted to 

 16 financially harm him.  That was in the context o f a 

 17 divorce.

 18 Q. He has both types of beliefs about Mr. Rose an d 

 19 Ms. Bashama.  Number one, that they are going to  

 20 physically harm him; and number two, they are go ing to 

 21 financially harm him.  Isn't that true?

 22 A. Yes.

 23 Q. Additionally, when he was under the care of Dr . Hege 

 24 from 2008 to 2011, he still had persistent sympt oms, 

 25 even though he was medicated and showed some 
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  1 improvement?

  2 A. Mr. Duncan, according to his son, Kyle, and al so 

  3 according to Dr. Hege's records, was largely 

  4 noncompliant.  The doctors at Peachford were abl e to 

  5 interview Dr. Hege regarding the treatment of hi s 

  6 patient, and I can read exactly what they said i n their 

  7 discharge summary.  They said, "In speaking to D r. Hege, 

  8 he reported that he has tried starting the patie nt on 

  9 Abilify, but the patient refused to take the pre scribed 

 10 dose and kept taking smaller and smaller amounts  which 

 11 has resulted in manic decompensation."  So he wa s 

 12 largely noncompliant when he was under the care of 

 13 Dr. Hege outpatient.

 14 Q. So he began decreasing his dose on his own of 

 15 Abilify when under the care of Dr. Hege?

 16 A. According to the Peachford records, that's cor rect.

 17 Q. But he was taking some amount of the Abilify, and my 

 18 original point was he still had persistent delus ions at 

 19 that period of time?

 20 A. It would be erroneous to conclude that a medic ation 

 21 was ineffective when it's not being taken proper ly.

 22 Q. Well, let's talk about that.  One of the reaso ns 

 23 that he did not take the medication as prescribe d is 

 24 because he experienced side effects and complain ed of 

 25 side effects; isn't that true?
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  1 A. It is very common for patients who are manic o r 

  2 hypomanic to complain of side effects of sedatio n when 

  3 in actuality the speed of their thoughts and spe ech and 

  4 actions has returned to a more normal level.

  5 If you look at his family, the lateral report 

  6 from that time, his son reported that he was sle eping 

  7 very little, that he was engaged in a lot of bol d 

  8 directed behavior that was not actually producti ve 

  9 behavior, and you see that simultaneously with h is 

 10 complaining of side effects of sedation we have a family 

 11 report that he's not sleeping.  So that would be  

 12 inconsistent information.

 13 Q. Do I understand you correctly that you are say ing 

 14 even though he was complaining of sedation side effects, 

 15 his family's reports tend to show that he maybe wasn't 

 16 experiencing that?  Is that what you are saying?

 17 A. That's correct.

 18 Q. When he was given both Abilify and Risperdal a t 

 19 Butner under your care, he also complained of si de 

 20 effects, isn't that true?

 21 A. That is correct.

 22 Q. And in the report, the report from Butner that  you 

 23 and Dr. Patole submitted, it's opined that he sh ould 

 24 also be given a mood stabilizer in conjunction w ith the 

 25 antipsychotic in order to render him competent; isn't 
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  1 that true?

  2 A. We say that mood stabilizers can also be helpf ul.  I 

  3 do not think he has to have a mood stabilizer to  be 

  4 rendered competent.

  5 In our study and the studies I have reviewed 

  6 most patients were restored to competence on one  

  7 antipsychotic medication.  Very few of the patie nts also 

  8 had a concomitant mood stabilizer on board that resulted 

  9 in their competence.  So I do think they can be restored 

 10 on antipsychotic therapy.  As I stated before, 

 11 antipsychotics are approved for treatment both f or 

 12 psychosis and for mania.

 13 Q. Dr. Volin, isn't it correct, however, that in the 

 14 past when he has improved and his symptoms have improved 

 15 under Dr. Hege's care and under Charter Peachfor d's 

 16 care, that he was also being given mood stabiliz ers?

 17 A. Yes.  So in the Charter Peachford he improved in 

 18 eight days, and he was given not only the Abilif y and 

 19 Depakote that he was taking there at the end of the 

 20 eight days, he was also additionally prescribed other 

 21 medications.  

 22 It is not uncommon for inpatient hospitals who 

 23 are very expensive to try to treat people very q uickly.  

 24 I would not have the burden of trying to render 

 25 Mr. Duncan competent in eight days.  Therefore, I would 
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  1 give the antipsychotic medication time to work t o make 

  2 sure that those other medications were actually needed.

  3 Q. But regardless, you or the staff at Butner FMC  

  4 cannot give mood stabilizers involuntarily; isn' t that 

  5 correct?

  6 A. Yes.  There is no injectable mood stabilizer, that 

  7 is correct.

  8 Q. Dr. Volin, when we spoke about alternative the rapies 

  9 and you said that talk therapy does not work for  his 

 10 particular diagnosis and that cognitive behavior al 

 11 therapy needs the addition of medication, would you 

 12 agree that, therefore, you are not considering t hese as 

 13 alternatives to medication?

 14 A. So the various therapies that would be used in  

 15 conjunction when they have antipsychotic medicat ion, 

 16 some have shown to be effective, some have not.  

 17 However, it is widely accepted in my profession that you 

 18 cannot treat psychotic symptoms with therapy or other 

 19 less alternative measures alone.  It simply does  not 

 20 work.  So I cannot divorce myself from that know ledge, 

 21 even though as a mental health professional I un derstand 

 22 and respect the value of talk therapy.  I think that's 

 23 something that you try to engage with every time  you sit 

 24 down with a patient.  You try to create a therap y that 

 25 aligns, you try to assist the patient; you try t o help 
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  1 the patient see things that he cannot or will no t see.

  2 Q. And so in your expert opinion, you are saying that 

  3 these alternative therapies are not an option fo r 

  4 Mr. Duncan?

  5 A. They are not going to restore him to competenc e.  

  6 They are not going to treat his psychotic il lnes s the 

  7 way in which medication would.

  8 Q. Doctor, when we are talking about the effectiv eness 

  9 of the suggested or recommended medications, you  relied 

 10 on a couple of studies; isn't that correct?

 11 A. The studies listed in the report is all restor ation 

 12 of competence.  There are countless double-blind  placebo 

 13 trials that have shown the effects of antipsycho tic 

 14 medications in patients with psychotic il lness t hat I do 

 15 not reference.

 16 Q. Did you reference in the report the Herbel stu dy and 

 17 the Cochrane study?

 18 A. Yes.  There is a 2008 Herbel and Stelmach and 2012 

 19 Cochrane and Herbel.  They are specifically refe rencing 

 20 pretrial inmate restoration to competence.

 21 Q. Those particular studies that are cited in the  

 22 report as a basis for the effectiveness, those w ere not 

 23 double-blind placebo studies like you just menti oned, 

 24 were they?

 25 A. They were not.  Those were retrospective analy sis.  
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  1 Because this particular population is not a very  large 

  2 population, it would be almost impossible to get  a 

  3 double-blind placebo controlled trial.  And beca use 

  4 where you may have two percent of the entire pop ulation 

  5 with schizophrenia, how many of those are federa l 

  6 pretrial inmates?  So when you have such a small  sample 

  7 size, that necessitates this type of study.

  8 If you look at the restoration literature, most 

  9 of them were retrospective reviews.

 10 Q. I am going to ask you another question about t he 

 11 medications.  Some of the side effects that you went 

 12 through on direct of the recommended medications  are the 

 13 Parkinsonism effects?

 14 A. Yes.

 15 Q. Okay.  With respect to Haldol, which is the No . 1 

 16 recommended involuntary medication, isn't it the  

 17 practice for Cogentin to be given to counteract the 

 18 Parkinsonism symptoms?

 19 A. If those symptoms are present, it would be a 

 20 practice to administer Cogentin.

 21 Q. Okay.  And Cogentin itself, some studies indic ated 

 22 that that can then cause Tardive Dyskinesia; isn 't that 

 23 correct?

 24 A. You would have to direct me to the study becau se if 

 25 someone-- it would be difficult to separate out people 
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  1 who had never been on antipsychotic medication a nd 

  2 people who had been given Cogentin alone.  So if  you are 

  3 noting a correlation, we would have to make sure  that 

  4 there was not a compounding factor in the psycho tic 

  5 medications.

  6 Q. Okay.  With respect to side effects, though, c an we 

  7 agree that Mr. Duncan's main complaints thus far  have 

  8 been lethargy, sedation, being zombie-like, etc. ?

  9 A. Yes.  He often had some very unusual complaint s 

 10 after the dosage of Abilify that were not sedati on.

 11 Q. But the ones you would be most concerned about  or 

 12 expect him to have would be these lethargy, feel ing like 

 13 a zombie or feeling sedated?

 14 A. I am most concerned about the symptoms that th e 

 15 patient presents.  I am, of course, very concern ed about 

 16 the possible symptoms that might indicate a seri ous 

 17 condition.  So I can't say that I'm more concern ed with 

 18 sedation than I am with another symptom.  My foc us is 

 19 going to be on what I observe within the physica l exam 

 20 and other observations and what the patient is t elling 

 21 me.

 22 Q. But sedation has been specifically complained about 

 23 by Mr. Duncan in the past with antipsychotics; i sn't 

 24 that true?

 25 A. Yes.
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  1 Q. And for an individual experiencing this side e ffect, 

  2 that person could hypothetically have a difficul ty in 

  3 sitting at counsel table and listening to witnes ses and 

  4 comprehending and observing testimony; isn't tha t 

  5 correct?

  6 A. That is correct.  I would also like to note th at 

  7 antipsychotic medications actually improve cogni tion.  

  8 So if Mr. Duncan were experiencing a side effect  of 

  9 sedation here after treatment, we would monitor that 

 10 very different ways.  We would get a sleep log.  We have 

 11 the advantage of 24-hour nursing.  We would get a sleep 

 12 log that would monitor all of the times that he was 

 13 sleeping throughout the 24-hour day.  

 14 I would also-- we could administer 

 15 neuropsychological testing to see if there was a  lack of 

 16 concentration in a particular area that counsel would be 

 17 interested in. We would also do interviews vario us 

 18 different times of day and determine when these symptoms 

 19 were most prominent, and we would address that b y 

 20 changing the dosage or the timing of his medicat ion or 

 21 changing the medication altogether if that were going to 

 22 be a barrier to the competence.

 23 Q. But were he to continue to experience side eff ects 

 24 that render him zombie-like, wouldn't that inter fere 

 25 with his ability to relate to his attorney if he 's 
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  1 hearing contradictory or untrue information, rel ating 

  2 that in a coherent and organized manner and bein g able 

  3 to respond to questions from his counsel?

  4 A. So, I have never observed Mr. Duncan behaving in a 

  5 zombie-like fashion.  The records that I reviewe d from 

  6 previous evaluators and the treatment at Charter  

  7 Peachford did not reflect that he was zombie-lik e after 

  8 treatment with medication.

  9 Of course, if someone were oversedated, we would  

 10 address that immediately.

 11 Q. Isn't it true that his wife relayed to either you or 

 12 Dr. Patole that when he was medicated in the pas t, he 

 13 was zombie-like?

 14 A. When he was initially treated-- hold on.  Let me get 

 15 her interview.

 16 Q. It's on pages 6 and 7 of the report, Doctor.  

 17 A. Okay.  So when he was initially treated prior to 

 18 treatment with Dr. Hege in 2008, Mrs. Duncan ind icated 

 19 that the medication made him a zombie.  I did no t have 

 20 those records from that particular outpatient pr ovider 

 21 to review.

 22 Q. Dr. Volin, you mentioned that if the Court gra nts 

 23 the government's motion, you as Mr. Duncan's tre ating 

 24 doctor, if you were his treating doctor, would g ive him 

 25 the opportunity to choose his medication, whethe r it was 
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  1 injected or taken orally?

  2 A. That's correct.

  3 Q. Is that Butner's protocol?

  4 A. If it were one of the approved formulary and 

  5 available antipsychotic medications.

  6 Q. What I'm asking, if that is the protocol of th e 

  7 hospital you are leaving, would the next doctor have to 

  8 follow that protocol of allowing him the choice?

  9 A. Yes.  That is our standard here.  We do not-- as 

 10 psychiatrists, as doctors, we do not like forcin g 

 11 patients to take medication.  If he were to choo se an 

 12 oral medication, we would all be delighted.

 13 Q. But were he to be involuntarily medicated and not 

 14 comply with the Court's order, the standard proc edures 

 15 at Butner require that he be strapped down and h eld down 

 16 while he's injected; isn't that correct?

 17 A. So, the forced medication procedures, if they are 

 18 required, eventually a nurse would offer it to h im and 

 19 then he might say no.  People may offer it again  and 

 20 explain to him what would happen if he chose not  to 

 21 comply.  If what was called a forced Sell move was 

 22 required, then the officers would be on camera, the 

 23 nurse and the doctor would be interviewed on cam era.  

 24 All of the procedures would take place on camera .  

 25 Depending on whether or not this was within his 
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  1 cell or in a nurse's station, it would be very u nlikely 

  2 he would be strapped down, but the officers migh t 

  3 physically restrain him while he was being injec ted with 

  4 the medication by the nurse.  And, like I said, all this 

  5 would occur on camera.

  6 Q. And you have no knowledge of whether the local    

  7 jail that he would be transported to after Butne r   

  8 would continue to administer the medications tha t     

  9 had been successful for him at Butner; isn't tha t   

 10 true?

 11 A. I cannot force any other doctor to prescribe t he 

 12 same medication that I would prescribe.  However , if 

 13 there's concern that he is not going to take his  

 14 medication or not going be administering them pr operly 

 15 after restoration of competence, the Court can r equest 

 16 that he remain at our site for the competency he aring 

 17 and that occur via video conference if noncompli ance or 

 18 not being administered medication at a local jai l is a 

 19 concern.

 20 Q. Finally, Dr. Volin, you opine that Mr. Duncan is not 

 21 competent to assist in his defense and, therefor e, not 

 22 competent to stand trial; isn't that correct?

 23 A. That is correct.

 24 Q. Because of these persistent delusions that int erfere 

 25 with his ability to focus?
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  1 A. Yes, so the delusion and the thought 

  2 disorganization.

  3 Q. Would your opinion change if Mr. Duncan had be en 

  4 able to sit in court today, pay attention, assim ilate 

  5 all the information of witness testimony and int eract 

  6 with his attorneys in an organized and coherent fashion?

  7 A. I would have to evaluate Mr. Duncan.  I would be 

  8 particularly interested in whether or not he con tinued 

  9 to believe that his counsel, that the judge in t his 

 10 case, that other court professionals were involv ed in 

 11 the conspiracy with Robert Rose, that Robert Ros e was 

 12 directly involved in his incarceration.  So it w ould be 

 13 very important to me to make sure that those del usions 

 14 were either present or not present.

 15 One's decorum in court does not necessarily mean  

 16 that delusions are no longer present.

 17 MS. HARRIS:  Your Honor, may I confer with 

 18 cocounsel?

 19 THE COURT:  You may.

 20 MS. HARRIS:  Thank you very much, Dr. Volin.  I 

 21 have no further questions.  Have a good afternoo n.

 22 MS. STERLING:  I have just one question, Your 

 23 Honor.

 24 THE COURT:  Okay.  One brief redirect 

 25 question.
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  1 MS. STERLING:  One brief redirect question.

  2 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

  3 BY MS. STERLING:

  4 Q. Dr. Volin, can you state with a reasonable deg ree of 

  5 medical certainty that Mr. Duncan does not meet the 

  6 criteria for delusional disorder?

  7 A. Yes.

  8 MS. STERLING:  Thank you.

  9 THE COURT:  May this witness be permanently 

 10 excused, ladies?

 11 MS. HARRIS:  No, sir, Your Honor.

 12 THE COURT:  You do not wish to permanently 

 13 excuse her?

 14 MS. HARRIS:  We have no objection to her being 

 15 excused, Your Honor.

 16 THE COURT:  That's what I was asking.

 17 You may be permanently excused, Dr. Volin.

 18 THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 19 (The witness was excused.)

 20 THE COURT:  Do you have another witness?

 21 MS. STERLING:  Your Honor, the Government would 

 22 not call our remaining witness.  As I indicated before, 

 23 it was only if a question was raised as to somet hing that 

 24 came up.  We would rest at this time.

 25 THE COURT:  If you intend to call any witnesses,  
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  1 the Court is going to have to take a break.

  2 Do you intend to call any witnesses?

  3 MS. TALLENT:  No, sir, Your Honor.

  4 THE COURT:  All right.  If you are not calling 

  5 any witnesses and the defendant is not calling a ny 

  6 witnesses, here's what the Court is going to do.

  7 THE DEFENDANT:  May I save the taxpayer 

  8 dollars?  There's a robbery report that Bashama- -

  9 THE COURT:  No, we are not going to do it this 

 10 way.  

 11 THE DEFENDANT:  Bashama robbed my business of 

 12 four contracts.

 13 THE COURT:  Mr. Duncan, you will not address the  

 14 Court.  You will go through your counsel.  If yo ur 

 15 counsel doesn't raise it--

 16 THE DEFENDANT:  She needs to admit it into 

 17 evidence.

 18 THE COURT:  That's because she is trained, and 

 19 she knows what needs to be--

 20 THE DEFENDANT:  She is refusing to admit 

 21 evidence.  The area police department report pro ves-- 

 22 it's her job, and she is not doing it.

 23 THE COURT:  No.  It is her job and not yours, so  

 24 be quiet.

 25 THE DEFENDANT:  That's correct.  
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  1 You do it.

  2 THE COURT:  She is not going to do it.

  3 THE DEFENDANT:  Why?

  4 THE COURT:  Because she is in charge of the 

  5 case, not you, and the Court relies on counsel, not an 

  6 untrained person.

  7 THE DEFENDANT:  I have fired her so many times, 

  8 and she refuses to pass my information to the FB I.

  9 THE COURT:  Here's where we stand.  I want you 

 10 to deliver any post-argument memoranda you wish to 

 11 present to the Court within 20 days of today.  T oday is-- 

 12 within 20 days of today-- you can calculate 20 d ays from 

 13 today's date --in writing, and the Court will pr omptly 

 14 get back to you probably within 20 days with its  ruling 

 15 on the issue raised here on the question of invo luntary 

 16 medication.

 17 THE DEFENDANT:  I will continue giving my 

 18 information to the FBI.

 19 THE COURT:  The Court will be in recess.

 20 THE DEFENDANT:  Put that on the record, please.

 21 (This hearing concluded at 2:03 p.m.)

 22

 23 *   *   *

 24

 25
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